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Foreword
Foreword

more engaged relationship with
patients, carers and citizens so
that we can promote wellbeing
and prevent ill-health. Many of
the challenges, ambitions and
commitments in the Forward
View are reflected in our own
local plans and ambitions here
in Eastern Cheshire.

Dr Paul Bowen
CCG Chair

It is with great pleasure that
I present the Annual Report
and Accounts 2014-15 for
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG).
2014-15 has been a notable
year for the CCG and for the
NHS as a whole. In 2014-15
we published our first five year
strategic plan setting out our
plans for the future and seven
ambitions that reflect our desire
and commitment to transform
care in Eastern Cheshire.
Our ambitions continue to
place improving the health
and wellbeing of our local
population, patients and carers
at the heart of everything
we do.
At a national level, in October
2014 NHS England published
a Five-Year Forward View1 – to
consider the possible futures
on offer, and the choices that
we face. The Forward View
sets out how the health service
needs to change, arguing for a

Whilst our strategic plans
provide an insight in to
the future, many of our
commitments and priorities
remain very much in the
present and we have seen
both significant progress and
challenges in meeting our aims
for 2014-15.
I am pleased and proud of
the continued progress we
are making with our major
transformational programme
“Caring Together”2 which we
are leading in partnership with
our practices, Cheshire East
Council, providers of health
and social care across Eastern
Cheshire and members of the
public. Significant progress has
been made in the development
of key technology enablers
including the investment in a
new digital shared care record
and tools to identify and
prioritise people of greatest
need. We have also made
significant investments in “front
line” primary care, community
care and mental health services
to improve access for our
population.
The CCG has successfully
delivered a small but significant
surplus of £191,000 for its
second year of operation
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whilst working with a historical
inherited deficit. This was a
significant improvement from
the planned deficit of circa
£2million at the beginning of
financial year.
During 2014-15 we have
made significant progress in
improving a number of areas
of quality, including reducing
hospital readmissions, reducing
hospital acquired infections and
we have invested significant
resources to supporting and
improve care in our local
care homes. However 201415 has also seen significant
challenges in delivering some
of the NHS Constitution3
targets. Much of this relates
to the unprecedented levels of
demand on all areas of the NHS
seen over the winter period.
This resulted locally - and in
many areas of the country - in
poor access to hospital Accident
and Emergency care and to
Emergency Ambulance services.
We are committed to improve
on this during 2015-16.
Finally, I would like to extend
my thanks to all the CCG Staff,
our member practices, partners,
members of Eastern Cheshire
HealthVoice, our partners in
health and social care and the
Eastern Cheshire public for
their support during 2014-15
in helping to make Eastern
Cheshire an area where we can
all aspire to achieving better
health and wellbeing.
1 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
2 www.caringtogether.info
3 http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/
Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/
Documents/2013/the-nhs-constitution-forengland- 2013.pdf

Practices’

1. Member Practices’ Introduction
Throughout 2014-15, the
member practices of Eastern
Cheshire have solidified the
work undertaken in the previous
two years. We continue to
work collectively to shape the
strategy of the CCG and are
at the frontline in helping to
implement the work of Caring
Together operationally in our
day to day activity. Everyone
who has a stake in the local
health economy is striving to
deliver a high standard of care
for our population, linked to the
CCGs overall strategy.
The workload of member
practices and community
staff continues to rise, with
increasing population demand,
but also a significant shift
in activity and responsibility
filtering down from what has
historically been hospital activity.
This is ultimately the intended
direction of travel within our
Caring Together strategy,
but requires us to remain
vigilant and proactively seek
to work collaboratively with
our stakeholders. To this end,
on a town based peer group
level, we have worked with the
CCG staff, to find solutions to
better manage the health and
wellbeing of our population.
All member practices have also
been instrumental in delivering
innovative services. There is
recognition that as people are
living longer the number of
patients who will be diagnosed

as having a long term condition
is expected to double each
decade. Healthy living starts
early, and as a health economy
we need to deliver targeted
innovation to ensure our
patients’ wellbeing. Over the
last year, innovation and having
a driven enthusiastic workforce
has led to new services
delivering care co-ordination
and proactive care management
in the community.

There is an awareness that there
is a gap in care for patients
with complex needs following
discharge from hospital. Often
patients feel vulnerable and
having help co-ordinating their
care could relieve some of their
stress and aid a quicker recovery.
Added to this criterion, GPs
identify patients who would
benefit from additional input
and support.
In July 2014, a number of
practices commenced a
pilot scheme to improve this
situation and in the initial
stages a new neighbourhood
team approach worked hard
towards developing links
between Intermediate Care,
Discharge Teams and Social
Services making as many
people as possible aware of
what our service was offering,
and a Care Administrator role
provided the co-ordination of
care for the identified patients.
This pilot scheme has already
demonstrated that across
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the practices involved in the
pilot Accident and Emergency
attendances by patients
registered to these practices
have remained the same or
dropped from the previous year.
This is extremely positive as
the winter period over 201415 has been the hardest in a
few years and our expectations
would have been to see a rise in
numbers.
The future of NHS services
locally will continue to be
delivered by frontline staff,
mainly in the community.
The member practices are
committed to remain involved
in the delivery and clinical
leadership of its transformation,
so as to create a strong, local
healthcare system.

General Practice
Locality Peer Group
Leads
Dr Mike Clark
Macclesfield

Dr Jennifer Lawn
Knutsford

Joanne Morton
Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth and Wilmslow Group

Julie Sercombe
Congleton and Holmes Chapel

Angela Wales
Bollington, Disley and Poynton

Strategic
2. Strategic Report
The accounts in this report have
been prepared under a direction
issued by NHS England (formerly
NHS Commissioning Board)
under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended).
The main factors likely to
affect the future development,
performance and position of our
business are set out throughout
this report.

2.1 Our
membership

Our five localities, known as
General Practice Locality Peer
Groups, are:

• Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth, and Wilmslow
• Bollington, Disley,
and Poynton
• Congleton and
Holmes Chapel
• Knutsford
• Macclesfield.

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is a
membership organisation made
up of 23 Eastern Cheshire based
GP practices, working within
five localities, as shown in
Figure One.

Figure One
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The main purpose of the CCG
is to commission (buy) the
highest quality of health care
services within available funds,
and monitor the quality of these
services. We are responsible for
commissioning health services
to meet all the reasonable
requirements of our local
population, with the exception
of certain services commissioned
directly by NHS England,
health improvement services
commissioned by Cheshire East
Council, and health protection
and promotion services provided
by Public Health England.

Our main commissioning
responsibilities include:

• public involvement in CCG
and promotion of choice

• elective hospital care

• training, innovation and
research

• rehabilitation care
• urgent and emergency
care, including GP Out of
Hours and NHS 111

• environmental
sustainability

• mental health and learning
disability services

• delivering on relevant
areas of the Governments
mandate to NHS England6
and the NHS England
planning guidance
‘Everyone Counts’7

• prescribing and medicine
optimisation

• achieving financial
balance.

• most community
health services

• emergency and patient
transport ambulance
services
• NHS continuing healthcare
and NHS funded
nursing care.
We also have the responsibility
for commissioning emergency
and urgent care services for
the population within our
boundaries as well as for
commissioning services for any
unregistered patients who live in
our area.

2.2 Our statutory
responsibilities
The CCGs full statutory
responsibilities are detailed
within its Constitution.4
The main responsibilities
include:
• upholding the NHS
Constitution,5 CCG
Constitution and
governance standards
• quality assurance and
quality improvement of
commissioned services
• quality improvement of
GP services in partnership
with NHS England
• safeguarding children and
vulnerable adults
• reducing health
inequalities

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG is
currently meeting its statutory
duties.

2.3 Our structure
The CCG currently employs 53
staff who work alongside the
clinicians and staff of the 23
practices to commission, plan
and monitor health services.
At the end of March 2015 NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG had 34
Female staff which equates to
64% of the workforce and of
these 28 were Full Time and six
were Part Time. There were also
19 Male staff which equates to
36% of the workforce and of
these 14 were Full Time and five
were Part Time.
The CCG Governing Body
comprises 16 members, of
which 50% are male and 50%
female. The CCG has four Very
Senior Managers, three are male
and one is female.
Throughout 2014-15
our workforce has been
aligned to deliver on the
Corporate, Commissioning,
Transformational and Finance
functions and requirements of
the CCG. The management
of the CCG was structured
around the teams responsible
for delivering these functions,
and link into a number of
developments with partner
organisations. These include:

• Public Sector Equality Duty

• Caring Together8 – our
local transformation
programme for improving
care across the system for
the whole population of
Eastern Cheshire. During
the year the focus of this
programme has moved
from the design phase into
delivery.
• Connecting Care across
Cheshire9 – NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG together
with its partner CCGs in
Cheshire and the two
Local Authorities continue
to work together, where
appropriate, to jointly
develop services across
the Cheshire footprint.
This includes joint working
as well as sharing best
practice.
• Healthier Together10 – the
CCG is an associate to
the Greater Manchester
Healthier Together
transformation programme
which is aiming raise
standards of hospital care
and integrated care across
Manchester.
During the year the CCG has
reviewed both its internal
workforce as well as how it
works with the North West
Commissioning Support
Unit.11 This review has led to
the development of a CCG
Programme Management
Office to support delivery
of our commissioning and
transformational change
programmes. In addition
the CCG has chosen to re4 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/Downloads/Publications/Constitution/
NHS%20ECCCG%20Constitution%20
Master%20Copy%20v1.3%20%20
March%202015.pdf
5 http://www.nhs.uk/choiceintheNHS/
Rightsandpledges/NHSConstitution/Pages/
Overview.aspx
6 https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/nhs-mandate-2015-to-2016
7 http://www.england.nhs.uk/
everyonecounts/
8 www.caringtogether.info
9 http://cheshirepioneer.co.uk/
10 https://healthiertogethergm.nhs.uk/
11 http://northwestcsu.nhs.uk/
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commission a number of
commissioning support services,
including the “in-housing” of
some public facing governance
processes, such as freedom of
information, complaints and
incident management as well
as entering a shared service
arrangement with peer CCGs
from Cheshire and Wirral for
Continuing Health Care and
Complex Care Commissioning
Services.
The CCG also contracts from
the North West Commissioning
Support Unit (NWCSU) a
limited number of services
that support the CCG in the
delivery of its objectives and
day to day operations. These
include support around Human
Resources and Organisational
Development, Information
Governance, Information
Communications Technology
and Business Intelligence.

2.4 Vision
and Values
The vision of the CCG
“inspiring better health and
wellbeing” is a central tenet
of its Constitution. It shapes the
direction and behaviour of the
CCG, its membership and its
staff. This vision is embedded
in all that we do and underpins
all of the commissioning and
business decisions that we
undertake on behalf of our
population. Our way of working
is also guided by and measured
against the values and principles
of the CCG.

Working Together

Clinical leadership.

To deliver the right care, in the
right place, at the right time

The CCG will be clinically led
through its 23 practices, held
in high esteem by all clinicians,
valued and respected by
communities and supported
by a lean and supportive
management team.

Innovation
Creating the culture and
environment that inspires and
supports good ideas

Quality
Striving for the best possible
care to achieve the best possible
outcomes

Investing Responsibly
Making the right decisions
for the best value, affordable
healthcare

2.6 Principles
Having an inspiring and
successful place to work is at
the centre of our commitment
to the practices and staff
that work for the CCG. We
have five corporate principles
that we consider as essential
“foundation blocks” in
determining what is core work
for us, and what we believe
is important to seek external
support for. Our five corporate
principles are:

Local experts in health
needs and improving
health outcomes.
Our practices are the greatest
source of knowledge and
expertise in understanding
local health needs and leading
improvement in health
outcomes, working closely with
a variety of partners.

Local leadership
and community
engagement.
The CCG will be the local
leader of the NHS, working
in partnership with its
stakeholders, communities and
patients to shape our future.

Expertise in local
provider relations and
quality improvement.
Building effective and strong
relationships with our key
providers is central to a

2.5 Values
Our values embody the culture
and style of working that will
enable us to be a CCG that
our communities, practices and
staff can be proud of. Our five
corporate values are:

Valuing People

Listening to and respecting the
public, our patients’, carers,
communities and staff
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successful commissioning
organisation. It supports high
quality integrated care and
improves access and choice.
Most importantly we believe
successful local provider
relationships encourage a shared
commitment to continuously
improving the quality of care for
our communities.

2.8 Ambitions

Local assurance in
finance, performance
and governance.

• ensure our citizens access
care to the highest
standards and are
protected from avoidable
harm

Our organisational structure
reflects the importance of taking
ownership of our governance
arrangements,
keeping them simple but
effective. We recognise our
responsibility for ensuring that
we make the right decisions for
best value affordable care and
that these responsibilities are
conducted in an open, honest
and transparent way that installs
confidence in our peers,
stakeholders and communities.

2.7 Strategic
Objectives
Our strategic objectives are:
• to lead the development
of a shared vision for the
health and social care
economy
• to use the knowledge and
experience of clinicians
and managers to improve
care
• to work effectively with
our members
• to place patients at
the centre of our
commissioning decisions
• to commission safe,
effective care that
continues to improve
patient experience
• to continue to develop
the effectiveness of the
organisation
• to ensure financial
sustainability for the
health economy.

The CCG has seven ambitions:
• increase the number of
people having a positive
experience of care
• reduce the inequalities
in health and social care
across Eastern Cheshire

• ensure that all those
living in Eastern Cheshire
should be supported by
new, better integrated
community services
• increase the proportion
of older people living
independently at home
and who feel supported to
manage their condition
• improve the health-related
quality of life of people
with one or more long
term conditions, including,
mental health conditions
• secure additional years
of life for the people of
Eastern Cheshire with
treatable mental and
physical health conditions.

2.9 Working in
partnership to
improve health and
wellbeing
The CCG is a major partner
with Cheshire East Council and
neighbouring CCGs (such as
NHS South Cheshire CCG) in
local (and sub-regional) work
to improve both the health of
and the care provided to the
population of Eastern Cheshire.
Examples include working
together on the Connecting
Care Across Cheshire5
integrated care pioneer
programme, development of
the Better Care Fund Plan12 and
the development of the Joint

9

Commissioning Leadership
Team.
The CCG has also worked
closely with Cheshire East
Council and NHS South Cheshire
CCG in the development
of a number of key joint
strategies that will improve
the health and wellbeing of
the population, including the
development of the Cheshire
East Childrens and Young
Peoples Plan 2015 - 201813,
and Caring for Carers: a Joint
Strategy for Carers of all ages
in Cheshire East 2015 - 2018.14
Arguably the most significant
partnership development has
been the agreement of partners
across Cheshire to invest over
£3.46million over the next
five years to implement an
integrated digital shared care
record.
In partnership with Cheshire
East Council and NHS South
Cheshire CCG, the CCG was
part of a successful bid in
securing over £450,000 in
funding from the Department
for Transport Total Transport
Pilot Fund to bring in support
to develop and run a feasibility
study to identify what scope
there is across Cheshire East
for integration across road
passenger transport services
commissioned by the public
sector, including home-to-school
transport, local bus support
and non-emergency patient
transport. The opportunities
brought by this fund will
further support and enhance
the existing work currently
under way by all health and
social care partners in Eastern
Cheshire to improve the
experience of accessing health
and care services – especially
those living in our rural areas,
remove unnecessary duplication
of resources – which can be
reinvested into local care – but
also improve the outcomes
experienced by the patients,
carers and residents of Eastern
Cheshire. This work will be
implemented throughout
2015-16.

The CCG continues to be
an active member of the
Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board, and through
its membership is jointly
responsible for the production
and use of the Cheshire
East Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment (JSNA).15 Along with
a variety of other sources of
data, including Commissioning
for Value insight packs,16 the
information and priorities
identified by the JSNA inform
the commissioning intentions
and decisions of the CCG and
have been instrumental in
helping us to determine our
priorities for the period 2014-15
as well as for 2015-16.
The CCG believes that using
different types of evidence
can support the development
of a constructive JSNA
on which to base sound
strategy development and
commissioning decisions.
It believes that Voluntary,
Community and Faith sector
(VCFS) organisations hold
unique evidence about local
community assets and needs
and that VCFS knowledge
can be combined with data
collected by statutory bodies
such as CCGs and local
authorities to offer a richer,
more accurate picture of its
communities. Throughout 201412 http://moderngov.cheshireeast.
gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.
aspx?CId=739&MId=5340
13 http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/children_
and_families/childrens_trust/cypt_news.aspx
14 http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/
ecminutes/documents/s40003/JOINT%20
CARERS%20STRATEGY%20Draft%20
V13%2013%2003%2015. pdf
15 http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/jsna
16 http://www.rightcare.nhs.uk/index.php/
commissioning-for-value/
17 http://www.regionalvoices.org/
sites/default/files/library/CheshireEast_
EvidenceCaseStudyFinal.doc
18 http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/
PDF/Health_and%20_Wellbeing_%20
Strategy_2014-2016.pdf
19 www.echealthvoice.info
20 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/Your-Health/Urgent-Care-And-OtherOptions.htm
21 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Your-Health/Pharmacy.htm		

15 the CCG has continued
to part fund with NHS South
Cheshire CCG and Cheshire
East Council a Third Sector JSNA
Co-ordinator,17 employed by
Community Voluntary Services
Cheshire East, to undertake a
systematic process to enable
VCFS organisations to feed in
evidence to the JSNA about
what is working to meet health
and wellbeing needs, and what
gaps in services remain.
The CCG, and its partners on
the Cheshire East Health and
Wellbeing Board, has also been
responsible for the production
of a refreshed Cheshire East
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2014 - 2016.18 The CCG has
influenced and contributes in
its day to day operation and
strategic delivery to the priorities
of the strategy, which are:

Outcome One –
starting and
developing well
Children and young people
have the best start in life; they
and their families or carers are
supported to feel healthy and
safe, reach their full potential
and are able to feel part of
where they live and involved in
the services they receive.

Outcome Two –
working and living well
Driving out the causes of
poor health and wellbeing
ensuring that all have the same
opportunities to work and live
well and reducing the gap in life
expectancy that exists
between different parts of the
Borough.

Outcome Three –
ageing well
Enabling older people to live
healthier and more active lives
for longer
Throughout the period 201415 the CCG has continued

10

to support the development
and operation of Eastern
Cheshire HealthVoice,19 which
is the public, patient and carer
reference group for the CCG
and which operates as an
advisory committee to the CCG
Governing Body. The CCG has
provided resources to increase
the profile of HealthVoice across
Eastern Cheshire so as to attract
a wide range members of the
public to be involved in working
with and influencing the
decisions of the CCG.
Members of this group
play a proactive part in the
development of CCG policies
and strategies, have been
instrumental in the prioritisation
of the CCG commissioning
intentions and provide public/
patient represention on a variety
of CCG meetings and groups.
Members of HealthVoice have
also provided insight and
support to a number of work
areas and the day to business
of the CCG, including providing
public representation and
involvement in commissioning
intentions prioritisation, the
procurement process for services
for Eastern Cheshire residents
and representation on the
Systems Resilience Group for
Eastern Cheshire. The views
and work of the HealthVoice
membership are reported
back at each Governing Body
meeting.
The CCG continues to work in
partnership with a variety of
organisations and partners in
supporting or delivering health
and wellbeing messages and
health service access awareness
initiatives so as to help ‘inspire
health and wellbeing’ and
reduce inequalities between
and within our communities.
Throughout 2014-15 the CCG
has, for example:
• continued to fund radio
advertisements and
newspaper advertisements
around Choose Well20
messages and our Think
Pharmacy21 campaign
to raise awareness of

appropriate access to/
of and alternative use of
health services, especially
over the winter period
• promoted digital health
inclusion we raised
awareness of online digital
health help and support
tools22 as part of the
national Get Online Week23
campaign in partnership
with Peaks and Plains
Housing Trust, The Tinder
Foundation, Cheshire East
Council and East Cheshire
NHS Trust
• published a weekly Health
Matters24 column in both
the Macclesfield and
Wilmslow Express focusing
on key topics both local
and national
• commissioned the
Pathways Community
Interest Company25
Community Development
workers within its Black
and Minority Ethnic
(BME) Community Health
and Wellbeing Service
to promote Choose Well
messages and deliver
workshops within our
local BME communities
and targeted Choose Well
message work within
our local Accident and
Emergency department at
East Cheshire NHS Trust
• worked closely with NHS
South Cheshire CCG, NHS
Vale Royal CCG and the
local Deafness Support
Network to deliver
deafness awareness
training, attended by local
22 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News/Get_online_week.htm
23 http://getonlineweek.com/
24 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News-Events/health-matters.htm
25 https://www.pathwayscic.co.uk/
26 http://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Downloads/About-Us/Final%20Report%20
-%20NHS%20EasternCheshire%20
CCG%202015.pdf

practice managers, and as
part of locally identified
work to help raise
awareness so as to improve
access to primary care
The CCG believes that it
works well with local partners
and the public and actively
invests time and resources to
ensuring that its engagement
and communication around its
priorities and decision making is
inclusive, open and transparent.
The CCG receives feedback
about how it is doing from its
partners and public via a variety
of means, and one such route
is via the CCG 360 Stakeholder
Survey conducted on behalf
of NHS England by Ipsos Mori.
The latest survey covering the
period 2014-1526 indicated the
following from the stakeholders
who took part in the survey:
• 97% thought that the
CCG did a great deal of
engagement over the last
12 months
• 73% thought that the CCG
had listened to their views
when provided

27 HSCIC QOF 2013-14

• 95% rated the working
relationship with the CCG
as very/fairly good

28 http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guidemethod/census/2011/census-data/2011census-data-catalogue/index.html

• 92% felt they had a
great deal/fair amount of
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knowledge around the
CCGs plans and priorities
• 84% felt strongly/tended
to agree that the CCG
effectively communicated
its plans and priorities
• 95% felt strongly/tended
to agree that improving
patient outcomes is a core
focus for the CCG
• 95% strongly/tended to
agreed that they felt able
to raise concerns about the
quality of local services
with the CCG, with 92%
strongly/tended to agree
that they had confidence
that the CCG would act on
feedback received about
the quality of services.

2.10 Our area
Eastern Cheshire is located in
the North West of England
and includes towns such
as Macclesfield, Knutsford,
Wilmslow, Poynton and
Congleton as well as many
villages and rural areas.
It has a registered population
of 204,00027 and most local
people are classed as ‘white
British’, however census 2011
data28 indicates that within

some of these areas and
more affluent areas. For
example, a woman living
in Macclesfield Town
South will, on average,
die almost 13 years earlier
than a woman living in
Wilmslow Town South
(Figure Three)
• one in six people aged
18-64 living in Eastern
Cheshire has a common
mental disorder such as
anxiety or depression,
whilst more than 1,600
people in Eastern Cheshire
live with serious mental
health problems such as
schizophrenia31

Eastern Cheshire there are over
110 different black and minority
ethnicities.
The CCG area has 53% of the
population of Cheshire East
Borough Council. With NHS
South Cheshire CCG, the two
CCGs are coterminous with the
boundaries of the Council.
There are a number of key
issues for our area, namely:
• Eastern Cheshire has
a predominantly older
population than the
national average, with
more than one in five
people being over 65
(Figure Two). This ratio will
become nearer to one in
four people by 202129
• the number of very elderly
people (over 80) is growing
even more rapidly, with a
higher estimated average
annual growth rate when
compared to England
(2.7% vs. 2.3%)
• as our population gets
older more and more
people are suffering from
long term conditions such
as high blood pressure,
liver failure, diabetes,
cancer, dementia and other
mental health problems

• nearly half of beds at local
hospitals are occupied by
someone with a long term
condition
• 67% (366 people) of the
premature deaths in
Eastern Cheshire each
year are preventable or
avoidable. Most of these
are caused by cancer,
heart disease, stroke, lung
disease and liver disease
– diseases that are largely
preventable by following a
healthy lifestyle30
• both males and living
within Eastern Cheshire
have, on average, a life
expectancy which is above
the national average
for life expectancy.
Whist this a good news
it does mask the large
internal differences in
life expectancy between
affluent and lesser affluent
areas of Eastern Cheshire
• although Eastern Cheshire
as a whole is generally
affluent, more than 9,000
of our local people live
within areas that are
among the 20% most
deprived in England.
There are some quite
big differences in health
outcomes – or health
inequalities – between
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• there are over 1,700
people in Eastern
Cheshire diagnosed with
dementia31, a figure set to
double by 203032
• there are over 2,000
people in nursing homes in
Eastern Cheshire.
29 21% vs. 18% 2011, 23 % in 2021,
Office for National Statistics
30 Local 2009-11 death rates calculated by
Public Health Intelligence, Cheshire East
31 HSCIC QOF 2013-14
32 Cheshire East Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment Sep 2012 (using data from
PANSI, POPPI and QOF - 100% in Cheshire
East (from 2010 to 2030)

2.11 Healthcare
spending
In 2014-15 we received £230
million to spend on healthcare.
We spent this money in a
number of ways so as to enable
the provision of healthcare
for the residents of Eastern
Cheshire. Figure Four indicates
how we spent this funding.

2.12 Access
to services
In Eastern Cheshire there are
38 Pharmacies, 42 Dentists,
48 Opticians, 62 care homes
with nursing or residential
homes and over 50 voluntary

Figure Two : Eastern Cheshire population estimates and projections

Source: ONS. Note: 2011 and 2021 projections based on Cheshire East Unitary authority

Figure Three : Life expectancy in Eastern Cheshire

Data Source: calculated by Public Health Intelligence, Cheshire East
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sector community groups.
There is one District General
Hospital in Macclesfield and
two community hospitals
(Congleton and Knutsford).
In the main, general acute
hospital and community health
services including some public
health improvement services
are delivered within Eastern
Cheshire by East Cheshire
NHS Trust and mental health
services by Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust. Children’s, families and
adult social care services and
public health services are
commissioned by Cheshire East
Council.
The proximity of Eastern
Cheshire to Greater Manchester
provides the Eastern Cheshire
population with significant
access and choice of general
acute services and access
to a range of specialist care
providers. There is already
an innovative model of
providing specialist services
locally with larger, specialist
hospitals like The Christie
Hospital NHS Foundation Trust
enabling chemotherapy to be
administered at East Cheshire
NHS Trust.
The CCG has a commitment
to ensuring an active provider
market seeking to secure
the highest quality of care
whilst recognising the need to

Figure Four : CCG healthcare spend by service area 2014-2015
Prescribing
£30,618m
13.32%
Ambulance
£6,037m
2.63%
Mental
health
£15,027m
6.54%

Other healthcare
£31,337m
13.63%

Running costs
£4,543m
1.98%

Hospital / Community care
£142,326m 61.91%

ensure local access to services
commensurate with an ageing
population. In 2014-15 the
CCG undertook successful
procurement processes for nonobstetric ultrasound and agerelated macular degeneration
services33 which extended the
availability of these services to
our local population.

2.13 A Five Year
Forward View
- NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG
In July 2014, the CCG published
its first five year strategic plan34

- entitled ‘A Five Year Forward
View’ - setting out its ambitions
and plans over the next five
years to raise the
standards of care in Eastern
Cheshire and lead a major
transformation to fundamentally
change the way care is delivered
to its population.
Delivery of the CCG’s five year
strategic plan is driven by four
key elements:
• investment and
development of primary
care utilising the excellent
existing assets available in
Eastern Cheshire
• development of a new
integrated community care
model
• ensuring acute hospital
services meet the highest
standards for safe , high
quality care
• continuous focus on
improving the quality,
efficiency and productivity
of all the services we
commission.

33 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Links/awarded-contracts_3.htm
34 http://www.caringtogether.info/wpcontent/uploads/2015/03/Caring-Together
five-year.pdf
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The CCG’s five year strategic
plan builds on the established
integrated care transformation
programme within Eastern
Cheshire - called Caring
Together, the vision of which
is ‘Joining up care for all our
wellbeing’. The Caring Together
transformation programme,
established in 2013, has a
shared vision, values and
principles and eight Caring
Together Ambitions (Figure
Five) supported by a new
Caring Together outcomes

framework uniquely focussed
on a new type of integrated
care model (Figure Six).
Key stakeholders have shaped
the development of the ‘I’
statements which will be
delivered once the Caring
Together transformation
programme has successfully
been delivered. During 201415 we have made excellent
progress in establishing a new
integrated care outcomes

Figure Five : The Eight Caring Together Ambitions

framework to support the ‘I’
statements which will help
demonstrate to our public,
patients, and communities how
our strategic plans are making a
real difference to people’s health
and wellbeing.
Other developments during
2014-15 include:
• as a first step to
commissioning for
outcomes we have
developed a generic
integrated care framework
incorporating the
standards and outcomes
we as Commissioners
require our providers to
meet
• the development of a
business case for a Risk
Stratification Tool which
includes both health and
social care data for use
by health and social care
professionals
• successful award of
£1.07million Tech2 Fund
monies35 to continue
the development
of a Cheshire-wide
integrated digital care
record. This is one of
the key programmes of
work which form part
of the Cheshire-wide
Pioneer Connecting Care
Programme
• commencement of the
development of a detailed
specification to support
the delivery of care closer
to home which is a key
ambition of the Caring
Together programme

Figure Six : Integrated Care System

• an active workstream of
clinicians and members of
the public working at to
identify ways in which we
can meaningfully empower
or enable individuals to
better manage their health
and wellbeing
• use of the Quality,
Innovation, Productivity
and Prevention (QIPP)
scheme to incentivise
providers to implement a
proactive approach to care
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• development of new ways
of working, including
extended care planning
undertaken in partnership
with the patients and their
carers, the introduction of
Care Administrators and
• Wellbeing Coordinators,
multidisciplinary
team meetings and
multidisciplinary discharge
planning. This has led to
significant improvements
in communication, care
planning and care delivery
and increased the amount
of help and support
available, resulting in more
effective care.
35 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News/Integrated_digital_care_record.htm

We have continued to maintain
a strong commitment to jointly
designing the future care
system with the public and care
professionals, and in February
2015 two new public facing
documents were published,
the A five year forward view aimed primarily at the health
and care workforce in Eastern
Cheshire and Continuing the
Conversation: seizing the
opportunity for better care36,
aimed primarily at members
of the public to help raise
awareness and understanding
of the Caring Together
programme.
Throughout 2014-15 we have
continued to undertake a
range of different methods of
communicating to and involving
our communities in shaping
and designing our approach
to transforming care. These
have been reported on the
programme specific website
www.caringtogether.info.

2.14 Our financial
challenge

populations is £1,178 against
our allocation which currently
stands at £1,130 for 2015-16.

The CCG has successfully
delivered a small but significant
surplus of £191,000 for its
second year of operation
whilst working with a historical
inherited deficit. This was a
significant improvement from
the planned deficit of circa £2m
at the beginning of financial
year. In delivering its surplus
for the financial year 2014-15,
the CCG adopted an agreed
approach with NHS England
of using all of its revenue
allocation (income) to cover its
expenditure.

Looking forward
five years

During 2014-15, NHS England
reviewed its pace of change
funding for CCGs who were
>5% below their notional
allocation (income per head
of population) following the
introduction of the new CCG
allocation formula. As at 201415, the CCG was 5.49% below
its notional allocation and as a
result has received an uplift for
2015-16 of 5.81%, which is
higher than the minimum uplift
awarded to all CCGs of 1.85%.
This has improved our overall
allocation, although we are still
below our target allocation. The
target allocation per head of

One of the key aims of this
programme is to ensure that
Eastern Cheshire has high
quality health and social care
services for its population which
are financially sustainable for
the future.
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The CCG has set its five year
financial plan for 2014-19,
contained within its Five
Year Strategic Plan 2014/152018/1937 which reinforces the
challenging position ahead.
In recognition of the local
economies financial position,
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
has engaged on a system wide
transformation programme
called Caring Together.

All of these programmes are
being supported both locally
and nationally and NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG is recognised
as leading one of the leading
transformational programmes in
England.
In setting the five year financial
plan for the CCG, there are two
key distinctions to make:

• the CCG would have
a small but increasing
surplus over the five
year period on its normal
business activities and
crucially living within its
financial allocations

2.16 Key
performance
indicators

provision of an excellent patient
experience. High quality care
encompasses all three aspects
with equal importance being
placed on each.

Finance

• the CCG would maximise
from within its resources
all funding to support the
transformation, commonly
referred to as one off
pump priming money.
This latter point is the
key enabler to delivering
a longer term financially
sustainable organisation.

Delivering a balanced
financial position against
agreed revenue
resource limit

Ensuring the delivery of
compassionate, high quality
care focused on achieving
positive patient centred and
beneficial outcomes is at
the very heart of our clinical
values. By establishing a shared
understanding of quality and a
commitment to place it at the
centre of everything we do, the
aspiration of high quality of
care for all of our commissioned
services will be achieved.

36 http://www.caringtogether.info/
SeizingtheOpportunity
37 http://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/downloads/publications/Strategies/
NHSECCCG5YearStrategicPlan.pdf

2.15 Going
Concern basis
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
draws its funding from the
NHS England. NHS England has
demonstrated its commitment
to fund the CCG for the
foreseeable future via the
spending allocation and a
“pace of change” commitment
which increases the spending
allocation to NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG at a higher rate
than the majority of CCGs.
Funding flows for the 2015–16
financial year having already
commenced. It is therefore
remains appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis for the
preparation of these financial
statements.

Revenue administration
spending not to
exceed the resources
made available
Ensure that suppliers are
paid promptly in
accordance with the better
payments code of practice.
Other performance indicators
are provided throughout this
report.

2.17 Our
commitment
to quality
The NHS defines quality as
effectiveness, safety and the
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As a CCG this means we will
hold the patient at the centre
of everything we do and seek
out and listen to what they are
telling us and what they need.
We will ensure that the services
we commission for patients are
as safe as possible, in line with
best practice, in order to achieve
the best reasonable outcomes
for these patients and a good
patient experience.
The CCG has developed
innovative processes to capture
feedback from patients

(including views from seldom
heard groups) and clinicians.
The CCG Governance Team
was formed this year, having
previously been provided by
North West Commissioning
Support Unit, and supports
us developing CCG capability
in this area. The Quality and
Performance Committee,
and Governing Body, ensure
that this feedback is utilised
to continuously improve
services. This information
includes complaints, concerns,
compliments or safeguarding
concerns received either
directly from service users,
from other NHS commissioners
and regulators or from health
care professionals involved in
coordinating or delivering care.

2.18 Our approach
to quality
The NHS Constitution sets out
the key principles that guide the
NHS and the values we should
be working to. This is one of
the key documents considered
when developing the CCG
approach to quality, especially
in relation to our responsibilities
as NHS staff as we commission
care. National guidance sets
out the responsibility CCGs
have in relation to improving
quality in primary care. The CCG
sees this as a fundamental part
of developing care in Eastern
Cheshire, in order to achieve
the aims of proactive integrated
care, and our commissioning
strategic priorities.
The CCG ‘Approach to
Continuous Improvement 201419’ document describes how
the CCG will work to ensure
that the services we commission
are safe, effective and provide
a positive patient experience.
The approach sets the scene in
relation to approaches that the
CCG will lead on for ensuring
improving quality throughout
the patient journey.
Responsibility for quality lies in
all parts of the Health and Social

care system and we collectively
work together to prevent
systemic failure and maximise
quality services. At a strategic
level the CCG has prioritised
that it will:
• ensure effective
monitoring and delivery
of contracted quality
standards (national and
local)
• continuously improve
the quality of services
being delivered to our
population all sectors
including General Practice
• learn from the Francis,
Berwick, Keogh and
other reports and
ensure the actions and
recommendations are
embedded within our
organisation.
This quality approach will form
a key element of the assurance
process. Through this strategic
document the CCG wishes to
embrace a culture of open and
honest co-operation where
individuals and organisations are
transparent about the quality of
care being provided to patients
by partnership organisations.
We will ensure the whole
system works collaboratively
to share information, address
concerns and raise standards.
‘Approach to Continuous
Improvement 2014-19’ outlines
the CCG’s vision of quality,
key drivers, and ambitions
for quality and the proposed
infrastructure that will both
support and govern this. It
provides a quality framework
that will underpin the work
within and between all of
CCG Clinical Services and the
work the CCG undertakes
in collaboration with key
stakeholders to ensure its local
population receive quality
assured, safe and timely care
in the appropriate setting. The
Clinical Quality and Performance
Committee oversee the
implementation of the CCG
quality priorities which are
identified in the annual plan.
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2.19 Ensuring and
improving quality
throughout the
patient journey
The CCG uses a range of
evidence to identify local quality
improvement priorities such
as pressure ulcers and serious
incidents. The specific objectives
and initiatives that underpin this
aim are as follows:
• development of a whole
health economy approach
to prevent and effectively
manage pressure ulcers
• Implementation of a
range of patient safety
improvement initiatives;
including reductions in
falls, improving kidney
injury care and avoidance
of Sepsis
• Reduction of rates of
healthcare acquired
infections (Methicillinresistant staphylococcus
aureusis (MRSA) and
Clostridium difficile
(C-Difficile)
• development of all services
to ensure high quality
“24-7” care
• development of Pledges
for the Sign up to Safety
national campaign
• Reduction of the incidence
of falls with a specific
focus on those occurring in
a hospital setting
• ensuring systems
support consistently safe
prescribing practice
• development of the
Eastern Cheshire
prescribing formulary
• working with the local
Academic Health Science
Network to increase
the number of people
engaging in research
• working in partnership
with Advancing Quality
Alliance (AQuA) to
improve quality and

support the CCG in
applying transformational
learning
• Development and
implement a quality
framework for care homes
• new development work
for the reduction in
microbial resistance by
delivering the Quality
Premium for Anti-Microbial
Resistance.
During 2014-15 we have
worked with commissioners
from Greater Manchester to
develop best practice care for
those who suffer a stroke38. This
involves patients being taken
directly to hospitals in Stockport,
Salford or Stoke for hyper acute
care prior to being repatriated
back to Eastern Cheshire. The
approach will ensure we achieve
the best outcomes for patients.
For the period covering 201415 the CCG faced challenging
infection control targets. Whilst
a great deal of work towards
reducing C-Difficile infections
has been carried out within East
Cheshire NHS Trust throughout
the year the target trajectory
was missed. None of the
identified cases were identified
as lapses of care within the
hospital setting. Each case
of C-Difficile was thoroughly
investigated and learning
points through the Trusts post
infection review process – of
which the CCG is part of – were
implemented to improve care.
One case of MRSA infection
was identified for this period,
a complex case where no fault
could be identified with local
processes.

38 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
News/Specialist-stroke-services-to-savelives.htm
39 http://www.england.nhs.uk/
nursingvision/

2.20
Compassionate
high quality care
The CCG is committed to
supporting compassionate and
high quality care as advocated
by the Chief Nursing Officer for
England through Compassion in
Practice39 - a strategy that aims
to achieve excellent health and
wellbeing outcomes. It builds on
the existing NHS Constitution
and the 6Cs (which details six
values):

• Care
• Compassion
• Communication
• Courage
• Competency
• Commitment
Towards demonstrating our
commitment we have created a
NHS Eastern Cheshire NHS Staff
pledge:
“We will care with
compassion, ensuring we
communicate effectively,
have the necessary
competence to under- stand
your health and social care
needs and the courage
to speak up for you. We
will demonstrate our
commitment by working
together, combining our
knowledge, skills and
expertise to maximise
opportunities for innovation
and excellence.”
The CCG has committed to
developing and embedding the
6Cs in all of its work and has
taken an active role nationally
and locally in its promotion,
including an innovative scheme
to share best practice between
local care homes.
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2.21 Working in
partnership to
improve quality
and reducing health
inequalities
In order for the CCG quality
approach to be successful in
delivering its aims and effective
in improving quality of care,
the CCG takes a whole systems
approach to quality. The CCG
works in partnership to support
and achieve the development of
a culture of quality improvement
across the whole healthcare
economy in Eastern Cheshire so
that it is focused on the needs
of patient and carers. This is a
key priority of the CCG.
The CCG also works in close
partnership with NHS England,
Care Quality Commission,
Cheshire East Council, NHS
Trust Development Agency,
Monitor, Healthwatch Cheshire
East and other relevant
partners through the Cheshire,
Warrington and Wirral Quality
Surveillance Group. An example
of a partnership approach to
improving quality includes
our work with the nursing
homes sector where the CCG
continues to invest to support
continuous improvement.
Elsewhere, initiatives include
implementation of an enhanced
(GP) primary care services and
the on-going development of a
quality monitoring team for care
homes, working with Cheshire
East Council.
Recognising the importance
of investing in mental as well
as physical health services to
address health inequalities,
the CCG has invested in the
following areas to begin to
address an inherited historical
underfunding of mental health
services locally. Examples of
investment during 2014-15
include:

• investment in a digital
mental health and
wellbeing service, called
Big White Wall40, which
provides a free 24/7 online
support to those residents
of Eastern Cheshire with
anxiety and depression
• recognising the significant
limited capacity for 1619 year olds to access
Children’s and Adolescent
Mental Health Services
(CAMHS) in Eastern
Cheshire, the CCG agreed
significant additional
investment41 to local NHS
and voluntary sector
providers of these services
• part funded a street
triage scheme42 where
mental health community
nurses from Cheshire
and Wirral Partnership
NHS Foundation Trust
accompany dedicated
police officers for Cheshire
Police during 999 and 101
call-outs to offer advice
and assist in reducing the
number of people being
arrested under section
136 of the Mental Health
Act or being unnecessarily
taken to hospital for
treatment.
Reducing health inequalities
is a multi-agency effort
requiring sustained action at
the prevention, detection and
treatment levels. To this end, as
a partner on the Cheshire East
Health and Wellbeing Board,
the CCG contributes through
its directly commissioned
services and by co-ordinating
our efforts with partners under
the auspices of the Board.
The CCG recognises that it
has an important role to play
in local actions to reduce
premature deaths amenable
to health services, actions
that can effectively promote
healthy lifestyles, and actions
to tackle socio-economic and
environmental determinants in
the longer term.

The 2014-15 CCG 360
Stakeholder Survey26 indicated
the following from the
stakeholders who took part in
the survey:
• 95% strongly/tended to
agreed that they felt able
to raise concerns about the
quality of local services
with the CCG
• 92% strongly/tended
to agree that they had
confidence that the CCG
would act on feedback
received about the quality
of services
• 73% strongly/tended
to agree that they had
confidence that the
CCGs plans will deliver
continuous improvements
in quality.

2.22 Safeguarding
The CCG is committed to
ensuring that safeguarding
is embedded within the
organisation and in the services
commissioned from all its
providers.
However, we also recognise
that our responsibilities extend
well beyond our local statutory
duties and boundaries and have
been an active member of the
Cheshire East Safeguarding
hub working with NHS South
Cheshire CCG, Cheshire
East Council and Cheshire
Police. The CCG Executive
Nurse and safeguarding team
have worked closely with
the Cheshire East Children’s
and Cheshire East Adult’s
and Children’s safeguarding
boards’ to continuously
improve the way we work and
ensure safeguarding policies,
frameworks are embedded in
everything we do.
The CCG’s Governing Body is
accountable for ensuring the
CCG discharges its full duties
with respect to safeguarding.
The Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee receive
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40 http://www.bigwhitewall.com/landing
pages/landingv3.aspx?ReturnUrl=%2f#.
VVzzyblViko
41 http://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Downloads/Governing-Body/1.6%20-%20
Chief%20Officer%20Report.pdf
42 http://www.cwp.nhs.uk/news_
items/2680-mental-health-street-triageproject-launched

quarterly safeguarding children
and adult update and risk
reports. The reports include key
points of the Local Safeguarding
Children and Adult Boards
work. The Governing Body
receives an annual update in
relation to safeguarding children
and adults. Robust processes,
procedures, services and action
plans are in place to safeguard
children and adults and ensure
compliance with Care Quality
Commissioning Standards.
This also includes multi-agency
partnership working with the
Local Safeguarding Children and
Adult Boards and established
safeguarding assurance
dashboards.
Leadership and responsibility
for safeguarding at Governing
Body level is provided through
the CCG Executive Nurse for
Safeguarding and Quality. This
lead role provides the CCG
representation on both the Local
Safeguarding Children Board
and Local Safeguarding Adult
Board. Clinical expertise in the
CCG is provided through the:
• designated Nurse for
Safeguarding Children
• designated Nurse and
Doctor for Children in Care
• designated Doctor for
Safeguarding Children,
and the
• designated Nurse for
Safeguarding Adults
at Risk.
These professionals are directly
accountable to the Executive
Nurse. The Designated Nurses
have direct access to the Chief
Officer. In addition, there is a
Designated Paediatrician for

unexpected deaths in childhood
and a Child Death Overview
Panel Specialist Nurse.
The CCG is responsible for
promoting safeguarding
quality and quality assurance
in the services it commissions.
This is achieved through the
contractual arrangements
with our service providers.
Contracts include safeguarding
standards in respect of both
children and adults at risk.
The Commissioned Services
Standards for Safeguarding
Children and Adults at Risk
document includes section 11
responsibilities of The Children
Act 1989, The Care Act 2014
and the six adult safeguarding
principles linked to the 6Cs
of Compassionate Care. The
standards include an escalation
process and this is used when
standards are not progressing.

Adult Safeguarding
2014-15 has seen some
significant changes in
Adult Safeguarding. The
Mental Capacity Act (MCA)
and Deprivation of Liberty
Safeguards (DoLS)43 was
showcased during the Cheshire
West Case and the Supreme
Court Ruling,44 identifying
new specific measures that
have changed the way health
colleagues raise standard
authorisations for patients in
their care.
In March 2015 the CCG was
proud to be co-host of a major
seminar on MCA/DoLS (see
picture). The seminar hosted key
note speakers who illustrated
national figures and good
practice that is being shared
with all professionals. Over 120
delegates attended from health,
social care, private sector, police
and probation.
For the Cheshire East footprint
the Safeguarding Adult Board
(SAB) has also undertaken
a redesign to meet the
requirements of the Care
Act 2014. The Care Act now

places Adult Safeguarding on a
statutory footing, and the key
statutory partners include Social
Care, Health and Police. Select
statutory partners within the
SAB have worked together as
a Business Management Group
(BMG) to drive the main work of
the board including refurbishing
the constitution of the SAB to
embed Making Safeguarding
Personal and The Care Act, the
final draft of the constitution
went to public consultation, and
was approved for the inaugural
SAB in April 2015.
43 http://www.hscic.gov.uk/dols
44 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/
files/20140416_supreme_court_judgment_
on_deprivation_of_liberty_briefing_v2.pdf

The revised constitution
highlights key core business
for the SAB and now includes
modern slavery and self-neglect,
SAB has also made clear in the
constitution the importance of
close links with other boards
(examples include: Cheshire East
Health and Wellbeing Board,
Safer Cheshire East Partnerships
and the Children’s Board) to
address the cross cutting issues
such as child sexual exploitation
and domestic violence. Work
within the CCG has enabled
the SAB to agree a multiagency information sharing
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protocol; this robust protocol
enables all professionals to share
the appropriate information
regarding Adults at Risk without
the concerns of information
governance, as the protocol
has incorporated all the legal
caveats that can at time slow
down the information sharing
process.
Over the last year the
designated nurse has assisted in
two Domestic Homicide Reviews
and the learning has been far
reaching not just for health
colleagues but also for carers,
GPs, police, fire and probation.
Local bespoke training has also
been revised to incorporate the
learning from both cases.
With the staged implementation
of the Care Act 2014 the Local
Authority remains the lead in
Safeguarding, and with this
there has been a change in the
reporting of Adult Safeguarding
concerns. The Multi-Agency
Safeguarding Hub (MASH)
has been relocated to the
Skilled Multi-Agency Resource
Teams. All Adult safeguarding
information starts at any of the
four locality points for initial
investigation. Information/
intelligence is then shared
where appropriate) to the
Local Authority Governance

teams where decisions are
made to implement Large
Scale Investigations under
safeguarding.

Safeguarding Children
In respect of safeguarding
Children, the CCG has
contributed to the work of the
multi-agency improvement
board and to the Local
Safeguarding Children Board
(LSCB) and all of its sub groups.
This has included the work
of the Child Death Overview
Panel, the multi-agency case
audit process, engagement
with the early help process,
Practice Learning Reviews
and development of the Child
Sexual Exploitation Integrated
Team. The CCG has jointly,
alongside NHS South Cheshire
CCG, agreed to commission a
specialist health worker to work
as part of this integrated team.
The CCG has carried out
audits to identify whether staff
understand what to do and
who to contact if they have
a safeguarding concern for
either an Adult or Child. Results
indicated that 90% of staff
knew what to do and who to
contact. The only area of staff
knowledge which was identified
as being poor in the context

of the audit was in respect of
allegations against professionals.
In response a one minute guide
was developed and distributed
to all staff.
Although the CCG is a
commissioning organisation,
the Designated Nurse for
Safeguarding has co-ordinated
the health contribution,
including GP Practices, to the
LSCB multi-agency case audits.
It is expected that GP Practice
involvement in future audits
will be further enhanced by the
newly appointed Name GP for
safeguarding.
The newly appointed Named
GP for Safeguarding has
reviewed current safeguarding
children training for GPs and
GP Registrars and planned a
series of training sessions for the
coming year.
The CCGs have contributed
to the Independent Thematic
Review45 in respect of a number
of young people who have
taken their own lives. They have
assimilated the learning and are
working with partner agencies
to meet the goals of the action
plan especially in respect of the
commissioning of mental health
services for young people.

45 http://www.cheshireeastlscb.org.uk/pdf/
thematic-review-of-suicide-and-self-harm-inyoung-people.pdf

In response to information from
the Child Death Overview Panel
(CDOP) regarding a number of
child deaths associated with
unsafe sleep the Specialist
CDOP nurse was supported by
the CCG and Public Health to
review safe sleep literature and
to provide two multi-agency
training sessions for safe sleep
“champions” given by the
Lullaby Trust.
The CCG is contributing to the
joint commissioning of the new
Independent Domestic Violence
Advocate post at Macclesfield
District General Hospital.
This post is already making
a difference to families living
with domestic violence who are
identified by hospital staff.
The CCG has commissioned
additional doctors and nurses
and administration support in
the Cared for Children Team,
in order to ensure that there
is capacity to assess and meet
the health needs of this group
of vulnerable children but are
in the process of reviewing
the Designated Nurse for
Looked After Children capacity
following new national
guidance. The Designated
Nurse has been supported by
the CCG to lead on a Cared
for Children’s participation day
which combined fun activities
with finding out children’s views
on their health and the health
services they access.

2.23 Promoting
innovation
During 2014-15 the CCG
became the UK procurement
partner in a European project
called “Stop and Go” Sustainable Technology for
Older People46. The work

CCG Chair Dr Paul Bowen presents at the Stop and Go conference.
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across four European countries
is focussed on increasing the
innovation, development and
implementation of new Assistive
Technologies in integrated care.
The project is being applied
locally to Diabetes care across
the life course from pre-diabetes
and the prevention of diabetes
through to complex care.

2.24 Promoting
Education and
Training
As a CCG, we have a duty
when exercising our functions,
to have regard to the need
to promote education and
training for our employees
(Section 14Z NHS Act 2006).
We actively encourage our
staff to attend organisational
and personal development
opportunities. We have adopted
an annual appraisal system in
order to support performance
and development of our staff,
which is further underpinned by
regular 1-1’s with line managers.
During 2014-15 the CCG was
the North West CCG selected by
the Year of Care Partnership for
the Year of Care47 Partnership
Training, enabling CCG staff to
benefit from the learning and
outcomes from the national
programme. This provided a
short programme of training
and development delivered for
local clinical staff focussed on
improving the personalisation,
self-care and co-ordination of
care provided in primary care
clinics for people with long term
conditions. The local learning
and service redesign will be
shared across the local practices
during 2015-16.

46 http://stopandgoproject.eu/
47 http://www.yearofcare.co.uk/
48 http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/
uploads/2014/06/ccg-ass-op-guid-2014-15.
pdf

2.25 Progress
against agreed
targets
The CCG has continued to
progress in the period 201415 and remains focused on
the need for both short term
continuous improvement in the
quality and access to care whilst
leading substantial long term
transformation programmes.
The CCG recognises that more
needs to be done to address
those areas where it has yet to
achieve the improvement it has
set itself. These will become the
areas of additional focus during
2015-16. The formation of a
Systems Resilience Group has
occurred during the past year
and this health economy wide
group has developed robust
plans to support delivery of care.

CCG Assurance
Framework
The CCG Assurance
Framework48 has been
established to ensure that
CCGs are continuing to meet
their on-going responsibilities
to patients and the public.
The framework sets out how
quarterly checkpoints contribute
to an annual assessment
focussed on broader measures
of organisational health.
Over the past year the CCG

has achieved assurance at each
of our checkpoint visits from
the NHS England Area Team.
Figure Seven demonstrates
the outcome of our most recent
(Quarter 3 – March 2015)
assurance review. The review
is consistent with the feedback
from NHS England at the
Quarters One and Two reviews.
The CCG is committed to
achieving the continued
assurance of NHS England and
actively support and participate
in the quarterly checkpoint visits
for 2015 – 2016.

Delivering against the
NHS Constitution
The CCG has delivered the
NHS Constitutional targets
consistently well across all
indicators (Figure Eight).
The only exceptions are:
• diagnostics within six
weeks where the CCG
were below the 99%
standard. The CCG has
taken steps to commission
local services to provide
more capacity in a number
of specialist diagnostics.
This will not only improve
local access but also enable
more timely diagnostic
tests
• during the year the CCG
worked closely with our
main provider of services,
East Cheshire NHS Trust,
to ensure that improved

Figure Seven : Outcome of quarter three assurance review
Domain

Checkpoint
Three

Are patients receiving clinically commissioned
high quality services?

Assured

Are patients and the public actively involved?

Assured

Are CCG plans delivering
better outcomes for patients?

Assured with
Support

Does the CCG have robust governance
arrangements?

Assured

Are CCG’s working in partnership with others?

Assured

Does the CCG have strong and robust leadership?

Assured
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performance was achieved
in both 18 weeks Referral
to Treatment and four
hour wait in A&E were
achieved. However,
like nearly all areas of
England we have seen
unprecedented levels in
winter pressures across
all parts of the care
economy, but most visibly
in hospitals resulting in
the A&E performance
failing to meet the 95%
standard by 1.43%
giving a year end figure
of 93.57%. Achieving
A&E performance was
additionally affected by
high levels of reported
Delayed Transfer of Care
(DTOC). The CCG together
with East Cheshire NHS

Trust invested significant
resources in identifying
ways to improve DTOC
whilst still maintaining
patient’s dignity and
good experience of care.
The CCG work included
bringing in peer to peer
reviews and specialists
from the Department of
Health. One of the findings
from this work was the
recognitions of significant
variability in the reporting
of DTOC with the Eastern
Cheshire partners
reporting much more
proactively and earlier
than elsewhere within the
region
• the 18 weeks referral
to treatment target has

failed due to the amnesty
approved by both the Trust
Development Authority
and NHS England. The
amnesty was intended to
address the long waiters
on the 18 weeks waiting
list ensuring those patients
that been waiting longest
were seen first, this
initiative was sanctioned
to clear the waiting list
backlog
• response times for
ambulances were
affected by the pressures
experienced over winter.
The CCG is working with
our peer CCGs to identify
opportunities to improve
performance in 2015-16.

Figure Eight : 2014-15 CCG performance against the NHS Constitution
Achieving

Awaiting

Failing

Referral to Treatment Waiting Times

Target

Performance

Comment

Admitted patients to start treatment				
within a maximum of 18 weeks from
90%
87.4%
National amnesty on
referral			
Referral To Treatment
Non-admitted patients to				
start treatment within a maximum
95%
97.5%
Achieved
of 18 weeks from referral			
Patients on incomplete non-emergency				
pathways (yet to start treatment)
should have been waiting no more
92%
92.89%
Achieved
than 18 weeks from referral
Diagnostic waiting Times

Target

Performance

Comment

Patients waiting for a diagnostic test				
should have been waiting less than
99%
99.84%
Achieved
6 weeks from referral			
A & E Waits

Target

Performance

Patients should be admitted, transferred			
or discharged within 4 hours
95%
93.57%
of their arrival at an A&E department			
Cancer Waits – 2 Week Wait

Target

Performance

Maximum two-week wait for first			
outpatient appointment for patients
93%
97.90%
referred urgently with suspected cancer			
by a GP		

Comment
Due to exceptional
winter pressures this
target has not been met
Comment
Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Maximum two-week wait for first			
Awaiting March 2015
outpatient appointment for patients
93%
95.8%
data for final
referred urgently with breast symptoms			
end of year figure
(where cancer was not initially suspected)				
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Cancer Waiting – 31 days

Target

Performance

Comment

Maximum one month (31-day) wait from			
diagnosis to first definitive
96%
98.55%
treatment for all cancers			

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Maximum 31-day wait for			
subsequent treatment
94%
98%
where that treatment is surgery			

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent			
treatment where that treatment is
98%
100%
an anti- cancer drug regimen			

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Maximum 31-day wait for subsequent			
treatment where the treatment is
94%
100%
a course of radiotherapy			

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Cancer waits – 62 days

Target

Performance

Maximum two month (62-day) wait			
from urgent GP referral to first
85%
89.2%
definitive treatment for cancer			
Referral to Treatment Waiting Times

Target

Performance

Comment
Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure
Comment

Maximum 62-day wait from referral			
from an NHS screening service to first
90%
96.36%
definitive treatment for all cancers			

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Maximum 62-day wait for first definitive
No		
treatment following a consultant’s
standard
83.72%
decision to upgrade the priority
set		
of the patient (all cancers)		

Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Category Ambulance Calls

Target

Performance

Comment

Category A calls resulting in an			
emergency response
75%
56.6%
arriving within 8 minutes - Red 1			
			
			

North West
Ambulance Service (NWAS)
Overall Performance Awaiting
March 2015 data for final
end of year figure

Category A calls resulting in an			
emergency response arriving
75%
61.5%
within 8 minutes - Red 2			

NWAS Overall Performance
Awaiting March 2015 data
for final end of year figure

Category A calls resulting in an			
ambulance arriving at the scene
95%
89.60%
within 19 minutes			

NWAS Overall Performance
Awaiting March 2015 data
for final end of year figure

Mixed Sex Accommodation Breaches

Target

Performance

Minimise Breaches		
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Cancelled Operations

Target

Performance

All patients who have operations cancelled,			
on or after the day of admission (including			
the day of surgery), for non-clinical reasons
0
0
to be offered another binding date within
28 days, or the patient’s treatment to be funded
at the time and hospital of the patient’s choice.
Mental Health

Target

Performance

Comment
(all breaches relate
to January 2015)
Comment
Awaiting March 2015
data for final
end of year figure

Comment

Care Programme Approach (CPA): The			
Awaiting
proportion of people under adult mental			
Q4 data
illness specialties on CPA who were followed
95%
97.47%
for final
up within 7 days of discharge from			
end of year figure
psychiatric in-patient care during the period				
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Quality premium.
The ‘quality premium’49 was
established to reward CCGs
for improvements in the
quality of the services that they
commission and for associated
improvements in health
outcomes and reducing health
inequalities.

The CCG received £740,000 for
quality premium performance
for 2013-14, which the CCG
was able to invest in improving
local services during 2014-15. A
highlight of the 2013-14 results
was that the CCG achieved a
20.7% reduction in Potential
Years of Lost Life against a
target of 3.2%. The CCG now
has the second lowest rate of

Potential Years of Lost Life for all
the CCGs in England.
A summary of the quality
premium position (to Feb 2015)
for 2014-15 is shown in
Figure Nine.
49 http://www.england.nhs.uk/ccg-ois/qualprem/

Figure Nine : CCG Quality Premium position (as at February 2015)
Measure

Current Performance

Percentage of Premium

Awaiting*

15%

Failing

15%

Avoidable Emergency Admissions

Achieving

25%

Friends and Family Test – A&E Scores

Borderline

15%

Improved Reporting of Medication Safety Incidents

Achieving

15%

Readmission Reduction (Local Measure)

Achieving

15%

Potential Years of Life Lost
Improving Access to Psychological Therapies

* Potential Years of Life Lost data will not be available until September 2015 and we currently do not have a method of
monitoring performance before then.

Based on performance so far
the CCG quality premium for
2014-15 could be between
£564,000 - £872,000
however when scaled against
performance against four key
NHS Constitution Measures the
payment could be scaled down
by 50% to between £282,000 £438,000.
The quality premium payment
received for achieving in 201415 will be invested locally during
2015-16.

2.26 Risk
Management and
principal risks and
uncertainties
The CCG adopts an embedded
risk management framework,
as detailed in the annual
governance statement. On page
43 the Annual Governance
Report identifies the following
key risks and uncertainties
together with related controls:

• Primary (General Medical)
Care Services Cocommissioning
• Delivery of
Operational Plan
• Quality Assurance
in Care Homes
• North West Commissioning
Support Unit accreditation.

2.27 Equality
Report
A key principle of the NHS
Constitution is that:
'the NHS provides a
comprehensive service, available
to all - irrespective of gender,
race, disability, age, sexual
orientation, religion or belief.
It has a duty to each and every
individual that it serves and
must respect their human rights.
At the same time, it has a wider
social duty to promote equality
through the services it provides
and to pay particular attention
to groups or sections of society
where improvements in health
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and life expectancy are not
keeping pace with the rest of
the population'.
Equality is about creating a
fairer society where everyone
can participate and has the
opportunity to fulfil their
potential. Equality means
treating individuals in a way
that is appropriate to their
needs, with dignity and worth
regardless of their protected
characteristics. Diversity builds
on equality and focuses on how
individual differences and their
strengths can be valued for the
benefit of both society and the
individual. Equality and diversity
are not interchangeable but
are interdependent. There is
no advancement of equality if
difference is not recognised and
valued.
The Health and Social Care
Act 201250 states that 'each
commissioning group must, in
the exercise of its functions have
the regard to the need to:
• reduce inequalities
between patients with

respect to their ability to
access health services
• reduce inequalities
between patients with
respect to the outcomes
achieved for them by
provision of health services
• promote the involvement
of patients and their
careers in decisions about
provision of the health
services to them
• enable patients to make
choices with respect to
aspects of health services
provided to them'.
The CCG is required to pay
due regard to the Public
Sector Equality Duty (PSED)51
as defined by the Equality Act
2010.52 Failure to comply has
legal, financial and reputational
risks. The key functions that
enable NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG to make informed and
equitable commissioning
decisions and monitor the
performance of their providers
have to demonstrate the needs
of protected groups have been
considered in:
• its commissioning and decommissioning processes
• consultation and
engagement processes
• procurement functions
• contract specifications
• quality contract and
performance schedules
• governance systems.
The CCG recognises and take
seriously its responsibilities and
duties under the Equality Act
2010. It is committed to making
sure equality and diversity is
a priority when we plan and
commission local healthcare
services, and have processes
in place that ensure that we
pay due regard to the possible/
potential impact on protected
characteristics populations.
To do this we work closely
with our communities and our
partners in health and care to

understand needs and how
best to commission the most
appropriate services to meet
those needs. An example of
this is that we commission
Community Development
Workers to engage with and
work with seldom heard
communities and populations
through the Black and Minority
Ethnic Health and Wellbeing
Service run by Pathways
Community Interest Company.
The service is commissioned to
deliver health and wellbeing
messages and education
sessions to identified seldom
heard groups so as to help
improve appropriate access
their to health services. Regular
reports are also provided to the
CCG from this service providing
insight into the habits of health
service usage – especially
around use of accident and
emergency.53
All key providers of services
commissioned by the CCG,
including East Cheshire NHS
Trust, Cheshire and Wirral
Partnership NHS Foundation
Trust, have undertaken the
Equality Delivery System 2
(EDS)54 assessment and have set
equality objectives in accordance
with their requirements. The
performance of providers in
relation to them meeting the
Public Sector Duty is taken
into account through contract
monitoring.
50 http://www.legislation.gov.uk
ukpga/2012/7/enacted
51 https://www.gov.uk/government/
publications/public-sector-equality-duty
52 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
ukpga/2010/15/contents
53 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/About-Us/pathways-cic-communitydevelopment-project.htm
54 http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/gov/
edc/eds/

As the CCG employs just
over 50 members of staff, it
is not required to produce
detailed staff profiles by
protected characteristics,
thereby protecting the privacy
of employees as any profiles
of protected characteristics
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may allow individuals to be
identified. At the end of
March 2015 the ethnicity
workforce profile of the CCG
was 5.66% against an Office
for National Statistics (ONS)
ethnic population estimate
across the CCG Area of 6.32%.
The CCG is therefore broadly
representative of the population
it serves.
As an employer we are
committed to ensuring that
we have a diverse workforce
by providing fair and equal
access to all NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG jobs, including
access to career development
and training opportunities for
existing and future staff. To do
this we aim to recruit the best
talent that we can and remove
any barriers to ensure that we
have the widest possible pool
of talent to draw from. We
are committed to ensuring the
working environment is inclusive
and appropriate support is
provided to any member of the
organisation that may require it.
As an employer we are also
committed to ensuring that
our staff have access to and
undertake mandatory training
around our Public Sector
Duty with regards equality
and diversity. We have also
ensured that we have robust
arrangements in place for staff
to report any occasions where
they or their colleagues have
been subject to any intentional
or unintentional discrimination
in the workplace or when
undertaking their duties when
representing the CCG. All of
the CCGs internal workforce
policies have been developed
in line with current legislative
requirements, including the
Equality Act 2010. These policies
cover the recruitment, selection
and appointment process as
well as all aspects of working
for the CCG.
Further demonstrating the
CCGs commitment to having a
representative and supportive
workforce, the CCG has also

successfully signed up to the
following Quality Standards:
• Two Ticks
Disability Symbol55
• Mindful Employer .
56

The CCG places a high priority
on ensuring that it discharges its
obligations as a good corporate
citizen and takes into account
its responsibilities towards
serving and meeting the
needs of our local population,
including safeguarding their
human rights.
Equality Objectives. Towards
meeting our Specific Duty we
are required to have an Equality
and Diversity Strategy for the
CCG57 and publish equality
objectives which are specific and
measurable and which can be
updated on an annual basis.
To help set our equality
objectives we have used the
NHS EDS 2 self-assessment.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
commissioned specific
support from the North West
Commissioning Support Unit to
undertake the EDS assessment
on behalf of the CCG. Our last
submission of EDS evidence
in 201358 resulted in the CCG
being assessed as ‘Developing’
reflecting its status as a relatively
new statutory NHS organisation.
These helped set our equality
objectives for a two year
timeline.
Our 2013-15 equality
objectives are:
• to ensure accessibility to
services and information
• to develop joint
consultation and
engagement
• to ensure the equality
of opportunity in
employment and training
provision
• to improve the JSNA
to provide a greater
understanding of
the Eastern Cheshire
population.

55 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.
uk/About-Us/two-ticks---positive-aboutdisability-symbol.htm
56 http://www.mindfulemployer.net/
57 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Downloads/Publications/Policies/BusinessConduct/ECCCG_Equality_and_Diversity_
Strategy_Aug_2012.pdf
58 https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/
Downloads/About-Us/Equality/East_Equality_
delivery_system_completed_template_2013_
Eastern_cheshire.pdfv

The CCG is continuing to
work with the North West
Commissioning Support Unit
to implement the NHS EDS2
Reporting Framework to
support the CCG in meeting the
necessary requirements of PSED.

2.28 Sustainability
Report
CCG policies and strategies,
such as flexible working, lease
car polices and Information and
Communication Technology
strategy contribute towards
meeting our sustainability
obligations.
The CCG will continue to work
towards ensuring that it meets
its obligations under the Climate
Change Act 2008, including the
Adaptation Reporting power,
and the Public Services (Social
Value) Act 2012.59 This includes
establishing mechanisms to
embed social and environmental
sustainability across policy
development, business planning
and in commissioning.
The CCG recognises that
its biggest impact can be
made with regards to how
it commissions and procures
services. The CCG is committed
to ensuring that within all
of its commissioning and
procurement processes that it
will ask all of its providers to
ensure that they are committed
to delivering the sustainability
agenda.
Meeting the needs of today
without compromising the
needs of tomorrow is a key
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driver of the CCG’s major
programme of transformative
work – the Caring Together
Programme. This programme
of change typifies the CCGs
approach to commissioning for
sustainable development in that
end goals include saving money,
saving resources and benefiting
staff and patients.
We lease our office building
from NHS Property Services and
our business address is New
Alderley House, Victoria Road,
Macclesfield. It is based on the
Macclesfield District General
Hospital site which is run by
East Cheshire NHS Trust. We
currently do not have access to
information such as our utilities
usage for 2014-15.

2.29 Strategic
Report Self
Certification,
Accountable Officer
We certify that the Clinical
Commissioning Group has
complied with the statutory
duties laid down in the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended). We certify that the
Clinical Commissioning Group
has incident response plans in
place, which are fully compliant
with the NHS Commissioning
Board Emergency Preparedness
Framework 2013. The Clinical
Commissioning Group
regularly reviews and makes
improvements to its major
incidents plan, proportionate
to its duties/responsibilities as
a category two responder, and
has a programme for regularly
testing this plan, the results
of which are reported to the
Governing Body.
Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
27 May 2015
59 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/
ukpga/2012/3/enacted

Report
3. Members’ Report

This report is prepared by the Governing Body on behalf of the members.

3.1 Our member
practices

3.2 Chair and
Accountable Officer

3.3 Governing
Body

Figure Ten includes details
of the 23 GP Practices that
comprise the membership of
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG.

For the year 2014-15 the office
of GP Chair of the CCG has been
held by Dr Paul Bowen and Chief
Officer (Accountable Officer) of
the CCG by Jerry Hawker.

Figure Eleven indicates the
composition of the Governing
Body of NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG during the year 2014-15.

Figure Ten : CCG member GP Practices
Locality Peer Group

Member Practices

Alderley Edge, Chelford,
Handforth, Wilmslow

Alderley Edge Medical Practice, Chelford Surgery, Handforth Health Centre,
Kenmore Medical Centre, Wilmslow Health Centre

Bollington, Disley, Poynton

Bollington Medical Centre, Mcllvride Medical Practice,
Priorslegh Medical Centre, The School House Surgery

Congleton, Holmes Chapel

Holmes Chapel Health Centre, Lawton House Surgery,
Meadowside Medical Centre, Readesmoor Group Practice

Knutsford

Annandale Medical Centre, Manchester Road Medical Centre,
Toft Road Surgery

Macclesfield

Broken Cross Surgery, Cumberland House, High Street Surgery,
Park Green Surgery, Park Lane Surgery,
South Park Surgery, Vernova Healthcare CIC

Figure Eleven : CCG Governing Body members
Governing Body Member

Position

Dr Paul Bowen

GP Chair

Jerry Hawker

Chief Officer

Alex Mitchell

Chief Finance Officer

Joanne Morton (from 17 May 2014)

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Mike Clark

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Jennifer Lawn

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Julie Sercombe (from 17 May 2014)

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Angela Wales

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Gill Boston

Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement)

Bill Swann

Lay Member (Public and Patient Involvement)

Gerry Gray

Lay Member (Governance & Audit) Deputy Chair

Sally Rogers

Registered Nurse

Duncan Matheson

Secondary Care Doctor

Julie Sin

Consultant in Public Health Medicine

Dr James Milligan (until 17 May 2014)*

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Melanie Lyman (until 17 May 2014)*

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

* These members served for part of the year and did not stand for re-election
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Members of the Governing Body without a vote are Neil Evans, Commissioning Director
and Fleur Blakeman, Strategy and Transformation Director.
A biography of each member of the Governing Body can be seen on page 61.
At the year end, the CCG Governing Body had seven male and seven female voting members.
There are two members of the Governing Body without a voting right, one female and one male member.
There have been 19 Governing Body meetings (Annual General Meeting included in this number)
during 2014-15, eight have been held in public and 11 have been in camera – all of which have been
quorate (Figure Twelve).

Figure Twelve : CCG Governing Body Member meeting attendance record
							
2014						
Name / Date

Apr

May

Jun

Jun

Jul

Jul*

Aug

Sep

Oct

Nov

Jan

2015
Feb

Paul Bowen
Jerry Hawker
Alex Mitchell
Joanne Morton
Mike Clark
Angela Wales
Jennifer Lawn
Julie Sercombe
Gerry Gray
Gill Boston
Bill Swann
Sally Rogers
Duncan Matheson
Julie Sin
James Milligan
Melanie Lyman
Neil Evans
Fleur Blakeman
* Also included Annual General Meeting
Attended

Absent

Meeting took place in camera

Meeting took place before member was in position
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Member no longer in position

Mar

3.4 Governance and Audit Committee Membership

Figure Thirteen details the composition of the Governance and Audit Committee as at 31 March 2015.
Figure Thirteen : Membership of Governance and Audit Committee
Committee Member (Voting)

Position

Gerry Gray

Lay Member for Governance & Audit (Chair)

Gill Boston

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Bill Swann

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement

Melanie Lyman

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Joanne Morton

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

Dr Jennifer Lawn

General Practice Locality Peer Group Lead

In attendance

Position

Alex Mitchell

Chief Finance Officer

Mike Purdie

Corporate Programmes and Governance Manager

		
A biography of each voting member of the Governance and Audit Committee can be seen on page 61.

3.5 Clinical Quality and Performance Committee Membership
Figure Fourteen details the composition of the Clinical Quality and Performance Committee.
Figure Fourteen : Membership of Clinical Quality and Performance Committee
Committee Member (Voting)

Position

Gill Boston

Lay Member for Public and Patient Involvement (Chair)

Dr James Milligan

CCG GP Quality Lead

Duncan Matheson

Governing Body Member - Secondary Care Doctor

Sally Rogers

Governing Body Member - Registered Nurse

Neil Evans

Commissioning Director

Andrew Binnie

Quality Performance Manager

Jacki Wilkes

Associate Director of Commissioning

In attendance

Position

Dr Julia Huddart

Executive GP for Clinical Leadership Team

Anita Mottershead

Quality and Performance Analyst

		
A biography of each voting member of the Clinical Quality and Performance Committee can be seen on page 61.

3.6 Remuneration
Committee
Membership

3.7 Political
and charitable
donations

Details of the composition of the
Remuneration Committee is set
out in the Remuneration Report.

In 2014-15 the CCG made
charitable donations amounting
to £241. No political donations
were made.

A biography of each voting
member of the Remuneration
Committee can be seen
on page 61.
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3.8 Events since
the year end
No significant events have
occurred between the year end
and the date of this report that
affect the CCG.

3.9 Likely future
developments
Likely future developments are
set out throughout the strategic
report included within this
annual report.

3.10 Research and
development
As a commissioning
organisation, we do not carry
out research and development
activities ourselves, but we
have commissioned external
organisations to carry out
clinical research on our behalf.

3.11 Branches
outside UK
We have no branches outside
the UK.

3.12 Pension
liabilities
Details of pension liabilities are
set out in note one and four to
the financial statements.

3.13 Sickness
absence data
Sickness absence data is set
out in note four to the financial
statements. This indicates that
the sickness level was below the
average for NHS organisations.
In 2014-15 there have been
no significant rates of sickness
absence which have required
managerial intervention.

3.14 External
Auditor
The external auditor in the year
was Grant Thornton LLP. Fees
for external audit services are set
out in note five to the financial
statements. These fees relate
to the audit of the financial

statements and the provision of
a statutory report on value for
money. No further assurance
services or other services were
provided by external auditors.

3.15 Serious
untoward incidents
As identified in the Annual
Governance Report on page
43 there have been no serious
untoward incidents in relation to
data losses.

3.16 Cost
allocation and
setting of charges
The Governing Body of NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG can
certify that the CCG has
complied with HM Treasury’s
guidance on cost allocation
and setting of charges for
information.

3.17 Complaints
and Principles for
Remedy
The CCG seeks to resolve and
remedy any complaints as
quickly as possible. In doing so,
we adhere to the principles set
out by the Parliamentary and
Health Service Ombudsman.
Good practice with regard to
remedies means:
• getting it right
• being customer focused
• being open and
accountable
• acting fairly and
proportionately
• putting things right
• seeking continuous
improvement.
These principles are applied to
every complaint received.
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3.18 Employee
consultation
As a relatively small employer
based in one office, our
Governing Body and Senior
Managers have day to
day contact with all of our
employees. In addition
we systematically provide
information on matters of
concern to employees through:
• Chief Officer’s briefings
• monthly whole “team
brief” meetings
• sharing of information
on CCG intranet and
via direct email on
matters relating to such
things as development
opportunities, fraud
awareness, and
employment matters
• use of web based
engagement / survey
technologies, such as
Survey Monkey and
information sharing
platforms, such as Twitter,
that allows engagement
and consultation of CCG
staff and other staff within
partner organisations
• regular 1:1s between staff
and managers.
Where appropriate, employees
views are canvassed prior to
key decisions being made and
all employees receive formal
letters of notification where any
matters influence employment
terms and conditions.
At the latter end of 2014 -15,
the CCG commissioned an
external collaboration of
organisations knows as the
APP Collaborative (made up
of three organisations called
Aspire P.O.D. Ltd, Prospect
Business Consulting Ltd
and Pace Consulting Ltd)
to undertake an in- depth
consultative review with CCG
staff, Governing Body members
and our practices so as to gain
a deeper understanding of their

awareness, understanding,
emotional connection,
ownership, involvement,
experience and belief in the
CCGs vision, purpose, values
and strategy (ambitions). The
collaborative was also asked to
review how this also translates
into team and individual
objectives and ways of working,
and to identify where there
appear to be strengths, gaps
and areas of difference to be
addressed.

colleagues have been subject to
any intentional or unintentional
discrimination in the workplace
or when undertaking their
duties when representing the
CCG.

The results of this review are
due to be presented to the
Governing Body early in 201516 and will inform a refreshed
Organisational Development
plan for the CCG and the
development of a robust
Governing Body development
programme.

Under guidance issued by NHS
England and under the Civil
Contingencies Act (2004) CCGs
are classed as Category Two
responders in emergencies.
This means that the CCG must
provide reasonable assistance
when requested to do so. The
CCG is also required to ensure
that day to day health services
are maintained by our providers
in the event of an emergency.
The CCG is also required to
maintain and test a business
continuity plan.

3.19 Disabled
employees
As an employer we are
committed to ensuring that we
have a diverse workforce by
providing fair and equal access
to all NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG jobs, including access to
career development and training
opportunities for existing and
future staff. To do this we aim
to recruit the best talent that we
can and remove any barriers to
ensure that we have the widest
possible pool of talent to draw
from.
The CCG has approved policies
where reasonable adjustments
to an employees working
conditions due to an identified
disability can be approved
following agreement between
employee and manager.
As an employer we are also
committed to ensuring that
our staff have access to and
undertake training around
our Public Sector Duty with
regards equality and diversity.
We have also ensured that we
have robust arrangements in
place for staff to report any
occasions where they or their

3.20 Emergency
preparedness,
resilience and
response

The CCG has ensured that
our contracts with providers
contain relevant emergency
preparedness, resilience and
response elements and seek
assurance on those providers
fulfilling contractual obligations.
This is reported back on a
regular basis to NHS England.
The CCG liaises with NHS
England directly through its area
team to support it in its role as
co-ordinator of the emergency
preparedness, resilience and
response plan through the Local
Health Resilience Partnership
(LHRP) - of which the CCG
is a member and of its subcommittees. The CCG also
provides a point of escalation
for the LHRP should a provider
fail to maintain the capacity
required.
The CCG maintains a 24/7 365
day a year on-call rota.
Our self-certification is included
in the accounting officer’s
statement in the strategic
report.
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3.21 Disclosure to
Auditors
Each individual who is a
member of the Governing Body
at the time of the Members’
Report is approved confirms:
• so far as the member is
aware, that there is no
relevant audit information
of which the clinical
commissioning group’s
external auditor is
unaware; and
• that the member has taken
all the steps that they
ought to have taken as a
member in order to make
themselves aware of any
relevant audit information
and to establish that the
clinical commissioning
group’s auditor is aware of
that information.
Dr Paul Bowen – Chair		
27 May 2015
Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
27 May 2015

Remunerati
4. Remuneration Report
4.1 Introduction

Section 234B and Schedule
7A of the Companies Act,
as interpreted for the public
sector, requires NHS bodies
to prepare a Remuneration
Report containing information
about directors’ remuneration.
The report is in respect of the
Senior Managers of the NHS
body. ‘Senior Managers’ are
defined as: ‘those persons in
senior positions having authority
or responsibility for directing
or controlling the major
activities of the NHS body. This
means those who influence
the decisions of the clinical
commissioning group as a
whole, rather than the decisions
of individual directorates or
departments. Such persons
will include advisory and lay
members.’
The Remuneration Committee
determines remuneration for the
CCG Governing Body members.

4.2 The
Remuneration
Committee

Other members:

Gill Boston – Lay Member for
Public and Patient Involvement

The terms of reference for the
Remuneration Committee were
approved by the Governing
Body in March 2013 under
the establishment of the CCG
Constitution. The membership
of the Remuneration Committee
during the year and up to the
date of this report is:
Chair:
Gerry Gray – Lay Member for
Governance & Audit

Dr Jennifer Lawn – Governing
Body Member - General Practice
Locality Lead
Duncan Matheson - Governing
Body Member – Secondary Care
Doctor
Bill Swann – Lay Member for
Public and Patient Involvement
Angela Wales - Governing Body
Member - General Practice
Locality Lead
In the absence of the Chair of
the committee a nominated
Governing Body member acts as
Chair. The Committee met on
three occasions during the year,
with attendance outlined in
Figure Fifteen.

Figure Fifteen : CCG Remuneration Committee member meeting attendance
		
Meetings		
Member

August 2014

January 2015

March 2015

Gerry Gray

Yes

Yes

Yes

Gill Boston

Yes

Yes

Yes

Bill Swann

Yes

Yes

Yes

Jenny Lawn

Yes

Yes

Yes

Angela Wales

Yes

Yes

Yes

Duncan Matheson

Yes

Yes

Yes
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ion

4.3 Policy on
Remuneration of
Senior Managers
Amendments to salary are
determined annually by the
Remuneration Committee.
Senior Manager performance is
monitored through the formal
appraisal process, based on
organisational and individual
objectives.
As required the committee has
access to professional advice
from the CCGs professionally
qualified HR manager and also
the CCG legal advisers Hill
Dickinson LLP.
In setting policy for current and
future years, the committee has
access to guidance, best practice
and benchmarking information
from NHS Employers, NHS
England and comparative CCGs.
Account is also taken of the pay
and conditions of service that
apply to other employees in the
CCG.

4.4 Senior
Managers
performance
related pay
Currently performance related
pay is not an element of Senior
Managers’ remuneration
package. The Committee is
considering options.

4.5 Senior Manager
Contracts
Senior Manager (officer)
contracts are subject to six
months’ notice. Governing Body
members have been appointed
to varied fixed terms of office,
details of which can be found in
Figure Sixteen.

4.6 Past Senior
Managers
No payments have been made
to any past senior managers or
for loss of office during
2014-15.

4.7 Pay Multiples
Reporting bodies are required
to disclose the relationship
between the remuneration
of the highest-paid director/
Member in their organisation
and the median remuneration of
the organisation’s workforce.
The banded remuneration of the
highest paid director/Member
in the Clinical Commissioning
Group on a full time equivalent
basis in the financial year 201415 was £170k to £175k) (201314, £170k to £175k). This was
5.1 times (2013-14, 5.5) the
median remuneration of the
workforce, which was banded
£30-£35k (2013-14, £30k to
£35k).
In 2014-15, no employee
(2013-14, no employee)
received remuneration in excess
of the highest-paid member.
Remuneration ranged from
£10-£15k to £170-£175k
(2013-14, £15-£19k to
£170-175k).
For these calculations,
remuneration includes salary,
non-consolidated performancerelated pay, benefits-in-kind.
It does not include employer
pension contributions and
the cash equivalent transfer
value of pensions. It is pro rata
the contracted hours and not
the actual amounts paid. The
workforce comprises executive
directors and staff excluding
non- executives.
There were no significant
changes in remuneration for
either the most highly paid
individual or for staff.
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4.8 Duration
of contracts,
notice periods
and termination
payments
The Accountable Officer and
Chief Finance Officer are
employed on contracts of
service and are employees.
Executive Governing Body
members’ contracts can be
terminated by either party with
up to 6 months’ notice. Details
of fixed term contracts are set
out in Section 9 below.
There are no special contractual
compensation provisions for the
early termination of Governing
Body members’ contracts.
Early termination by reason of
redundancy or, ‘in the interests
of the efficiency of the service’ is
subject to the provisions of the
Agenda for Change NHS Terms
and Conditions Handbook.
Employees above the minimum
retirement age who themselves
request termination by reason
of early retirement, are subject
to the normal provisions of the
NHS Pension Scheme.

4.9 Governing Body
Members
The majority of members were
appointed on fixed terms on
dates prior to the existence of
the CCG. For these members,
the start date is shown as the
first day of the CCGs existence.
Dates of contracts and
unexpired terms of office for the
Governing Body members are
outlined in Figure Sixteen.

Figure Sixteen : CCG Governing Body member appointment start date
Name and title

Appointment Start Date

Appointment End Date

Dr Paul Bowen Chairman

1 April 2013

June 2018 (4 year tenure renewed)

Dr Mike Clark

1 April 2013

May 2017 (3 year tenure renewed)

Jerry Hawker Chief Officer

1 April 2013

Permanent Contract

Alex Mitchell Chief Finance Officer

1 April 2013

Permanent Contract

Duncan Matheson

1 May 2013

30 April 2017

Angela Wales

1 April 2013

1 January 2016

Julie Sercombe

17 May 2014

17 May 2017

Bill Swann

1 April 2013

31 August 2016

Gerry Gray

1 April 2013

18 September 2016

Gill Boston

1 April 2013

28 February 2017

Jennifer Lawn

1 April 2013

30 September 2015

Dr Julie Sin

1 April 2013

Nominated member

Sally Rogers

1 April 2013

18 September 2016

Joanne Morton

17 May 2014

31 May 2017

The following members served for part of the year and did not stand for re-election
Dr James Milligan

1 April 2013

17 May 2014

Melanie Lyman

1 April 2013

17 May 2014
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4.10 Remuneration
Figure Seventeen : Governing Body member remuneration 2014-15
			
2014-15					
		
		
Taxable
Salary
benefits
and fees (rounded to
(bands of the nearest
£5,000)
£100)*4
Name
£000
£00
Dr Paul Bowen*2

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Long -term
All			
performance pension
related
related
bonuses
benefits*1
Total
(bands of
(bands of (Bands of
£5,000)
£2,500)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000

85 – 90

-

-

-

Dr Mike Clark

30 – 35

-

-

-

-

30 – 35

Jerry Hawker

110–115

79

-

-

17.5-20

135 – 140

Alex Mitchell

85 – 90

53

-

-

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 – 10			

0–5

-

-

-

0 – 5			

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 - 10			

0–5

-

-

-

0 – 5			

*3

Duncan Matheson
*3

Dr James Milligan
*3

Angela Wales

Melanie Lyman*3
*3

Julie Sercombe

57.5-60.0 145 – 150

12.5-15.0 105 – 110

5 - 10

5 - 10						

Joanne Morton

5 - 10

5 - 10						

Bill Swann

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 – 10			

Gerry Gray

10 – 15

-

-

-

10 – 15			

10 – 15

-

-

-

10 – 15			

15 - 20

-

-

-

15 - 20			

Dr Julie Sin

5 - 10

-

-

-

5- 10			

Sally Rogers

70 -75

-

-

-

70 -75			

*3

Gill Boston
*3

Dr Jennifer Lawn
*3

								
*1 All pension related benefits
are calculated by a formula that
calculates the increase in the
year by deducting the sum of
20 times the member’s pension
entitlement at age 60 plus lump
sum entitlement at 31 March
2014 as adjusted for inflation
from the sum of 20 times the
member’s pension entitlement
at age 60 plus lump sum
entitlement at 31 March 2015.
Both the employee and the
employer make contributions
towards these benefits.

*2 Dr Paul Bowen’s pension
benefit is derived from
employer’s and employee’s
contributions in this
employment plus contributions
funded by the Medical Practice
in which Dr Bowen is a partner.
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*3 These amounts have been
paid to third parties make
available the services of the
Governing Body member.
*4 Benefits relate to the taxable
benefit on the provision of cars.

Figure Eighteen : Governing Body member remuneration 2013-14
The equivalent figures for 2013/14 were:				
		
		
Taxable
Salary
benefits
and fees (rounded to
(bands of the nearest
£5,000)
£100)*4
Name
£000
£00
Dr Paul Bowen*2

Annual
performance
related
bonuses
(bands of
£5,000)
£000

Long -term
All			
performance pension
related
related
bonuses
benefits*1
Total
(bands of
(bands of (Bands of
£5,000)
£2,500)
£5,000)
£000
£000
£000

85 – 90

-

-

-

Dr Mike Clark

35 – 40

-

-

-

Jerry Hawker

120–125

9

-

-

105-107.5 225 – 230

Alex Mitchell

90 – 95

27

-

-

77.5-80.0 170 – 175

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 – 10			

-

-

-

30 – 35			

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 - 10			

Melanie Lyman

15 – 20

-

-

-

15 – 20			

Bill Swann

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 – 10			

Gerry Gray

5 – 10

-

-

-

5 – 10			

Gill Boston

10 – 15

-

-

-

10 – 15			

15 - 20

-

-

-

15 - 20			

Dr Julie Sin

5 - 10

-

-

-

5- 10			

Sally Rogers

20 -25

-

-

-

20 -25			

*3

Duncan Matheson
*3

Dr James Milligan
*3

Angela Wales

*3

Dr Jennifer Lawn*3
*3

30 – 35

130-132.5 215 – 220
-

35 – 40

								
*1 All pension related benefits
are calculated by a formula that
calculates the increase in the
year by deducting the sum of
20 times the member’s pension
entitlement at age 60 plus lump
sum entitlement at 31 March
2014 as adjusted for inflation
from the sum of 20 times the
member’s pension entitlement
at age 60 plus lump sum
entitlement at 31 March 2015.
Both the employee and the
employer make contributions
towards these benefits.

*2 Dr Paul Bowen’s pension
benefit is derived from
employer’s and employee’s
contributions in this
employment plus contributions
funded by the Medical Practice
in which Dr Bowen is a partner.

38

*3 These amounts have been
paid to third parties make
available the services of the
Governing Body member.
*4 Benefits relate to the taxable
benefit on the provision of cars.

4.11 Pension disclosures
Figure Nineteen : Pension disclosure for 2014/15
			
Total
		
Real
accrued
Real
increase
pension
increase
in
at age 60
in
pension
at
pension
lump sum
31 March
at age 60
at age 60
2015
(bands of (bands of
(bands of
Name
£2,500)
£2,500)
£5,000)
and title
£000
£000
£000

Lump sum					
at age 60
related to
accrued
Cash
Real
Cash
pension at Equivalent increase in Equivalent Employer’s
31 March
Transfer
Cash
Transfer contribution
2015
Value at
Equivalent
Value at
to
(bands of
31 March
Transfer
31 March partnership
£5,000)
2014
Value
2015
pension
£000
£000
£000
£000
£00

Dr Paul									
Bowen*
2.5 – 5.0 7.5 – 10
5–9
20 - 24
91
37
128
Chairman
Jerry									
Hawker
Chief
0 – 2.5
0 – 2.5
10 – 14
35 - 39
220
21
241
Officer
Alex Mitchell 									
Chief								
Finance
0 – 2.5
0 – 2.5
25 - 29
75 - 79
409
21
430
Officer
* Figures for Dr Paul Bowen include changes in benefits that arise from employer’s contributions funded by
the CCG and contributions funded by the Medical Practice in which Dr Bowen is a partner.
Certain Members do not receive pensionable remuneration therefore there will be no entries in respect of
pensions for these Members.

Figure Twenty : Pension disclosure for 2013/14
			
Total
		
Real
accrued
Real
increase
pension
increase
in
at age 60
in
pension
at
pension
lump sum
31 March
at age 60
at age 60
2014
(bands of (bands of
(bands of
Name
£2,500)
£2,500)
£5,000)
and title
£000
£000
£000

Lump sum					
at age 60
related to
accrued
Cash
Cash
Real
pension at Equivalent Equivalent
increase Employer’s
31 March
Transfer
Transfer
in Cash contribution
2014
Value at
Value at
Equivalent
to
(bands of
31 March
31 March
Transfer partnership
£5,000)
2014
2013
Value
pension
£000
£000
£000
£000
£00

Dr Paul									
Bowen*
5 – 7.5 15 – 17.5
5–9
20 - 24
91
22
69
Chairman
Jerry									
Hawker
Chief
2.5 – 5 15 – 17.5 10 – 14
35 - 39
220
131
89
Officer
Alex Mitchell 									
Chief								
Finance
2.5 – 5 10 – 12.5 25 - 29
75 - 79
409
338
70
Officer
									

39

4.12 Real Increase in CETV

continued

Number

Number for whom assurance		
has been requested
2

This reflects the increase in CETV effectively funded
by the employer. It takes account of the increase
in accrued pension due to inflation, contributions
paid by the employee (including the value of
any benefits transferred from another scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.

Of which:		
assurance has been received

2

assurance has not been received

-

engagements terminated as a		
result of assurance not being received
-

4.13 Off Payroll engagements
(not subject to audit)

		
Number

NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group off-payroll engagements as at 31 March
2015, for more than £220 per day and that last
longer than six months are as follows:

Number of off-payroll engagements		
of board members, and/or senior officers
with significant financial responsibility,
during the year
7

Of which, the number that have existed:		

Number of individuals that have been		
deemed “board members, and/or		
senior officers with significant financial
responsibility” during the financial year.
This figure includes both off-payroll
and on-payroll engagements
18

for less than one year at the time of reporting 2

		

Number
Number of existing engagements		
as of 31 March 2015
11

for between one and two years		
at the time of reporting
9

All off-payroll engagements relate to Board
Members whom are employed by medical
practices who are member practices of the CCG
for between 2 and 3 years		
rather than paying remuneration directly to the
at the time of reporting
officer. As explained in section 4.10, the practices
for between 3 and 4 years		
are paid for making available the services of the
at the time of reporting
Board Member and the practice will account for
taxation and national insurance on these amounts
for 4 or more years at the time of reporting
as income of the practice.
		
All off-payroll engagements relate to payments
made to GP Practices for making available services
of partners and employees. All have at some point
been subject to a risk based assessment as to
whether assurance is required that the practice is
Biographies of the voting members of the
paying the right amount of tax and, where necesRemuneration Committee can be seen on page
sary, that assurance has been sought.
61. Details of the specific job titles and
membership of committees is set out in the
For all new off-payroll engagements between 1
members report
April 2014 and 31 March 2015, for more than
£220 per day and that last longer than six months:

4.14 Biographies of
the members

4.15 Declared interests

Declared interests are published on our website at
https://www.easterncheshireccg.nhs.uk/.

Number
Number of new engagements, or those		
that reached six months in duration,
between 1 April 2014 and 31 March 2015
2

Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer			
(Accountable Officer)
27 May 2015

Number of new engagements which		
include contractual clauses giving		
NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group the right to request
assurance in relation to income tax
and National Insurance obligations
2
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Statment

5. Statement of Accountable
Officer’s Responsibilities
The National Health Service Act
2006 (as amended) states that
each Clinical Commissioning
Group shall have an
Accountable Officer and that
Officer shall be appointed by
the NHS Commissioning Board
(NHS England). NHS England
has appointed the Chief Officer
to be the Accountable Officer
of the Clinical Commissioning
Group.
The responsibilities of an
Accountable Officer, including
responsibilities for the
propriety and regularity of
the public finances for which
the Accountable Officer is
answerable, for keeping proper
accounting records (which
disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any time the
financial position of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and
enable them to ensure that
the accounts comply with the
requirements of the Accounts
Direction) and for safeguarding
the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s assets (and hence
for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other
irregularities), are set out in
the Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
Under the National Health
Service Act 2006 (as amended),
NHS England has directed each
Clinical Commissioning Group
to prepare for each financial
year financial statements in
the form and on the basis set
out in the Accounts Direction.

The financial statements
are prepared on an accruals
basis and must give a true
and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Clinical
Commissioning Group and of
its net expenditure, changes in
taxpayers’ equity and cash flows
for the financial year.
In preparing the financial
statements, the Accountable
Officer is required to comply
with the requirements of the
Manual for Accounts issued by
the Department of Health and
in particular to:
• observe the Accounts
Direction issued by NHS
England, including the
relevant accounting and
disclosure requirements,
and apply suitable
accounting policies on a
consistent basis
• make judgements and
estimates on a reasonable
basis
• state whether applicable
accounting standards as
set out in the Manual for
Accounts issued by the
Department of Health
have been followed, and
disclose and explain any
material departures in the
financial statements; and
• prepare the financial
statements on a going
concern basis.
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Jerry Hawker
CCG Chief Officer

To the best of my
knowledge and belief,
I have properly discharged
the responsibilities set out in
my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
27 May 2015

Governance
6. Annual Governance Statement
6.1 Introduction
and Context

Strategic Report on page 6 of
the Annual Report and Accounts
2014-15.

and effectively, safeguarding
financial propriety and
regularity.

NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG)
is made up of 23 Eastern
Cheshire based GP practices
and has a population of over
204,000 residents in the towns
of Alderley Edge, Bollington,
Chelford, Congleton, Disley,
Handforth, Holmes Chapel,
Knutsford, Macclesfield,
Poynton, Wilmslow and the
surrounding villages and rural
areas.

6.2 Authorisation

6.4 Compliance
with the UK
Corporate
Governance Code

With our allocation of over
£230 million, our main purpose
is to ensure for our residents
the availability of and access
to high quality health care
by commissioning (buying)
appropriate health care services
and monitoring the quality of
the care which is provided.
We are a major partner leading
work to integrate local health
and social care services so as
to help improve the health and
care experience and outcomes
of our population and to ensure
that we continue to have a
safe, effective, high quality and
financially sustainable healthcare
economy now and in the future.
Health and social care spending
on residents of Eastern Cheshire
is around £346 million per year.
Further detail about Eastern
Cheshire can be found in the

The CCG was licenced from
1 April 2013 under provisions
enacted in the Health & Social
Care Act 2012, which amended
the National Health Service Act
2006.
As at 1 April 2014, the CCG
was licensed without conditions.

6.3 Scope of
Responsibility
As Accountable Officer, I have
responsibility for maintaining a
sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement
of the clinical commissioning
group’s policies, aims and
objectives, whilst safeguarding
the public funds and assets
for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with
the responsibilities assigned
to me in Managing Public
Money. I also acknowledge
my responsibilities as set out
in my Clinical Commissioning
Group Accountable Officer
Appointment Letter.
I am responsible for ensuring
that the clinical commissioning
group is administered prudently
and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently

We are not required to comply
with the UK Corporate
Governance Code. However, we
have reported on our Corporate
Governance arrangements by
drawing upon best practice
available, including those
aspects of the UK Corporate
Governance Code we consider
to be relevant to the CCG and
best practice.’
This Governance Statement is
intended to demonstrate our
compliance with the principles
set out in the UK Corporate
Governance Code.
Certain provisions (A.1.3, C.3.7,
D.2.4, E.2.1 and E.2.2) are not
applicable to a public sector
body, such as this CCG, and
some (E.1.1, E.1.2 and E.2.4)
have required interpretation
in the public sector context.
For the financial year ended
31 March 2015, and up to the
date of signing this statement,
the CCG complied with the
provisions set out in the Code,
and applied the principles of
the Code, subject to the above
caveats, except as follows:

Code Provision

Arrangements at CCG

B.3.1 For the appointment of a chairman, the
nomination committee should prepare a job
specification, including an assessment of the time
commitment expected, recognising the need for
availability in the event of crises. A chairman’s
other significant commitments should be disclosed
to the board before appointment and included in
the annual report. Changes to such commitments
should be reported to the board as they arise, and
their impact explained in the next annual report.

The Constitution of NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG,
established under the Social Care Act 2012 defines
the arrangements for appointing a chairman.
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Code Provision

Arrangements at CCG

B.5.2 All directors should have access to the
advice and services of the company secretary,
who is responsible to the board for ensuring
that board procedures are complied with. Both
the appointment and removal of the company
secretary should be a matter for the Board
as a whole.

The role of Board Secretary is undertaken by the
Head of Corporate Services. The appointment
and removal of this role is not reserved to the
Governing Body (Board) but is made by Executive
Management. The Head of Corporate Services
is available to provide advice directly to the
Governing Body Members.

B.7.1 All directors of FTSE 350 companies should
be subject to annual election by shareholders. All
other directors should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first annual general meeting
after their appointment, and to re-election
thereafter at intervals of no more than three years.
Non- executive directors who have served longer
than nine years should be subject to annual reelection. The names of directors submitted for
election or re-election should be accompanied
by sufficient biographical details and any other
relevant information to enable shareholders to
take an informed decision on their election.

The arrangements for the appointment of
Executive and Non-executive Members
are laid down in the Constitution of
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG,

B.7.2 The board should set out to shareholders
in the papers accompanying a resolution to
elect a nonexecutive director why they believe
an individual should be elected. The chairman
should confirm to shareholders when proposing
re-election that, following formal performance
evaluation, the individual’s performance continues
to be effective and to demonstrate commitment to
the role.

As a public body the CCG does not have
shareholders and arrangements around
membership and appointments are defined in the
CCG’s constitution.

6.5 The Clinical
Commissioning
Group
Group Governance Framework
The National Health Service
Act 2006 (as amended), at
paragraph 14L(2)(b) states:
“The main function of the
governing body is to ensure that
the group has made appropriate
arrangements for ensuring that
it complies with such generally
accepted principles of good
governance as are relevant
to it.”
The CCG is a clinically led
membership organisation
made up of 23 practices.
The members of the CCG are
responsible for determining the
governing arrangements for the
organisation and are represented
on the Governing Body by
elected General Practice Locality

As a public body the CCG does not have
shareholders, and therefore shareholder votes are
not possible.

Peer Group representatives.
The group demonstrates its
accountability to its members,
local people, stakeholders and
NHS England in a number of
ways, including:
• publishing its constitution
• appointing independent
lay members/persons and
non-GP clinicians to its
Governing Body
• holding meetings of its
Governing Body in public
• publishing a commissioning
plan annually
• complying with local
authority health and
adult social care overview
and scrutiny committee
requirements
• meeting annually in public
to publish and present its
annual report
• producing externally
audited annual accounts
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• by being a member of
the Cheshire East Health
and Wellbeing Board
and contributing to the
development of the local
Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment and local Joint
Health and Wellbeing Plan.
The CCG is accountable for
exercising the statutory functions
of the group and may grant
authority to act on its behalf to:
• any of its 23 member
practices
• its Governing Body
• its employees
• a committee or subcommittee of NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG.
The extent of the authority to
act of the respective bodies
and individuals depends on the
power delegated to them by

NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG’s
Scheme of Reservation and
Delegation and/or through the
Terms of Reference of the:
• Governing Body
• Governing Body
sub-committees
• Executive Committee
• Joint committees.
The CCG remains accountable
for all of its functions, including
those it has delegated. In
discharging the functions of the
CCG that have been delegated,
it’s Governing Body and its
committees, joint committees,
sub-committees and individuals:
• comply with NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG’s principle of
good governance
• operate in accordance
with ECCCG’s Scheme of
Reservation and Delegation

• comply with NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG’s Standing
Orders

Governance and Audit
Committee

• comply with NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG’s
arrangements for
discharging its statutory
duties

The Governance and Audit
Committee’s key role is to ensure
that NHS Eastern Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group
has appropriate arrangements
in place to ensure it exercises its
functions effectively, efficiently
and economically and in
accordance with any generally
accepted principles of good
governance that are relevant to
it. This includes ensuring that
effective Internal and External
audit functions are in place and
reviewed on a regular basis.

• where appropriate, ensure
the member practices have
had the opportunity to
contribute to NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG’s decision
making process.
The CCG has the following
sub-committees which are
accountable to the
Governing Body:
• Governance and Audit
Committee
• Remuneration Committee
• Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee.

Committees are generally
scheduled bi-monthly and an
indication of attendance is given
in Figure Twenty One. Please
note that there were changes
to the membership of the
committee in year.

Figure Twenty One : Governance and Audit Committee member attendance 2014-15
Apr

May

Jun

Jun (2)

Aug

Sep

Nov

Jan

Mar

Gerry Gray (Chair)

Yes

Apol

Yes

Apol

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Gill Boston

Yes

Apol

Yes

Apol

Yes

Yes

Apol

Yes

Yes

Melanie Lyman

Yes

Yes

Apol

Yes

Apol

Apol

Yes

Apol

Apol

James Milligan

Apol

Apol

Apol							

Bill Swann

Yes

Apol

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apol

Yes

Yes

Jennifer Lawn									
Yes
Joanne Morton									
Apol
										
• Adult and Children’s
achievement that affect patient
Remuneration
Safeguarding.
safety by reviewing the following
Committee
areas by provider directly
The committee also approves
commissioned by the CCG:
Please see Section Four:
the annual quality improvement
• patient experience
Remuneration Report for more
priorities, and objectives,
details on the remuneration
• patient safety incidents or
contained within the Operational
committee and its attendance
serious untoward incidents
Plan and agrees key information
record.
requirements to monitor progress
• complaints, PALs and
to meet these objectives.
professional concerns

Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee
The role of the committee is to
assure the CCG Governing Body
that there is effective scrutiny
relating to areas of concern and

trends

• mortality and
morbidity data
• progress against CQUIN
• key national targets
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Meetings are scheduled monthly
and an indication of attendance
throughout the year is given in
Figure Twenty Two.

Figure Twenty Two : Clinical Quality and Performance Committee Membership attendance 2014-15

James Milligan
Gill Boston

Apr

May

June

July

Aug

Sept

Oct

Nov

Dec

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols Apols

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Apols

Yes

Apols

Yes

Apols Apols

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols Apols Apols

Yes

Apols Apols

Jan

Feb

Mar

Sally Rogers

Yes

Apols

Yes

Jacki Wilkes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Neil Evans

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Duncan Matheson

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Julia Huddart

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols

Yes

Yes

Yes

Yes

Apols

Andrew Binnie

Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols Apols

													
The Terms of Reference for each
of these Committees can be
found in the CCG Constitution.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has
three advisory committees to
the Governing Body:
• Eastern Cheshire
HealthVoice
• GP Locality Peer Group/
Locality Management
Meetings
• Caring Together Leadership
Forum.
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG has
entered into joint arrangements
with the following groups:
• NHS Vale Royal and NHS
South Cheshire CCGs for
the provision of Medicines
Management and
Continuing Health Care
• Joint Commissioning
Committee comprises
representatives from NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG,
representatives from
NHS South Cheshire CCG
and representatives from
Cheshire East Council.
The performance of the
Governing Body, its subcommittees and employed staff
is routinely assessed for their
effectiveness both internally and
externally. In-house assessment

and appraisal are done through
Personal Development Reviews,
self-appraisal and internal
audit. External audit and
appraisal of effectiveness and
appropriateness is also provided
though arrangements with
organisations such as Grant
Thornton LLP and NHS England.
In 2014 MIAA published a
Committee Effectiveness
Review, commissioned by the
CCG. This included a review
of the Governance and Audit
Committee, the Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee
and the Leadership Team (now
Executive Committee). The remit
of the review was to ensure that
the key elements of governance
(financial, clinical, research,
information) are in place and
that there is an integrated
approach to governance
which avoids duplication and
significant gaps in oversight.
The review identified five
medium risk level areas for
improvement or further
reassurance. During 201415, these were addressed,
procedures were changed and
actions completed to meet with
the recommendations. These
included the recommendation
to develop a committee selfassessment procedure, which
was completed in year for the
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three statutory committees and
led to additional Governing
Body Development activities.
The self- assessment review is
now an annual scheduled event
for the statutory committees.
In year the CCG has undertaken
an independent governance
review with Deloitte (October
2014). A key part of this review
considered the operation of
the Governing Body, its subcommittees and the degree of
challenge, scrutiny and debate
within the Governing Body
meetings. In response to this
review the CCG developed
an Action Plan and have put
in place a number of changes
and enhancements to the
operation of the Governing
Body and its underpinning
governing arrangements. As
part of the Action Plan, the
CCG commissioned MIAA
to undertake a Governing
Body Reporting Review. This
evaluated Governing Body
reporting arrangements to
ensure that they reflected best
practice and the principles of
the “Intelligent Board”60
The review reported “Significant
Assurance”, with two
recommendations which were
defined as medium and low risk.
60 http://www.leadershipacademy.
nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/06/
NHSLeadership-HealthyNHSBoard- 2013.pdf

6.6 The Clinical
Commissioning
Group Risk
Management
Framework

prior to any meeting allowing it
to be reviewed and challenged
by the members of the public.
Responses to the Assurance
Framework by the Governing
Body are managed by the
Executive Committee who
monitor and report progress.

The CCG’s approach to risk
management is contained
within its Integrated Risk
Management Strategy and
Policy document, which
defines the risk management
process, responsibilities and the
identification and evaluation of
operational and strategic risks
as outlined within its Assurance
Framework reporting.

Risk management is at the
core of the commissioning
process along with equality
impact assessments which are
considered as part of any new
business case development and
review and feature within all
Governing Body papers.

The identification of risks is
the responsibility of all staff
and these risks are captured
through the following points of
consolidation:
• through the work of
committees, where they
are standing agenda items
• Programme and Project
Boards, including public
facing programmes
• Governing Body and
Executive Committee
• external Providers and
Stakeholders
• complaint management
and serious untoward
incident logs
(Including IG breaches).
These risks are captured on
the corporate risk log and
evaluated by the Executive
Committee, who take a view on
the appropriateness of controls,
scoring and actions to mitigate
the risks.
The Governing Body Assurance
Framework is a document
which contains a detailed
view of risks that may have
a significant impact on the
achievement of corporate
objectives. This document is
published for consideration
by the Governing Body and is
available via the CCG website,

The Governance and Audit
Committee is responsible for
maintaining oversight of the
risk management process
and reviews the Risk Log and
Assurance Framework on a
regular basis. This committee
is also responsible for gaining
assurances that adequate
arrangements are in place for
countering fraud and reviews
the outcomes of counter fraud
work.

6.7 The Clinical
Commissioning
Group Internal
Control Framework
A system of internal control
is delivered by a number of
processes and procedures that
are in place to ensure it delivers
its policies, aims and objectives.
It is designed to identify and
prioritise the risks, to evaluate
the likelihood of those risks
being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and
to manage them efficiently,
effectively and economically.
The system of internal control
allows risk to be managed
to a reasonable level rather
than eliminating all risk; it
can therefore only provide
reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness
The Governing Body Assurance
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Framework61 is designed to
facilitate the identification
of risks that would impact
the organisations ability to
meet its objectives, which
are underpinned by its
policies and procedures. The
Governing Body reviews the
Assurance Framework at each
Governing Body meeting and
feeds back to the Executive
Committee, Governance and
Audit Committee and other
Committees and Project/
Programme boards, where
appropriate. The Executive
Committee is then responsible
for facilitating any mitigating
actions or updates to the risk
information.

6.8 Information
Governance
The NHS Information
Governance (IG) Framework sets
the processes and procedures
by which the NHS handles
information about patients and
employees, in particular personal
identifiable information. The
NHS IG Framework is supported
by an IG toolkit and the annual
submission process provides
assurances to the clinical
commissioning group, other
organisations and to individuals
that personal information is
dealt with legally, securely,
efficiently and effectively.
The CCG has implemented an
IG Framework incorporating
key policies and procedures
for identifying, improving
and embedding IG policies
and best practice. The CCG
has submitted a satisfactory
level of compliance with the
information governance toolkit
assessment and is approved
for Stage One Accredited Safe
Haven (ASH) status to allow
processing of a limited amount
of pseudonymised data. The
CCG has ensured that all staff
and Governing Body members
undertake annual IG training.
The Governance and Audit
Committee has responsibility for
IG within its Terms of Reference,

it meets on a bi-monthly basis
and reports into the Governing
Body.
The IG process is supported
by key staff roles, including
the Corporate Programmes
and Governance Manager
(designated Caldicott Guardian)
and Chief Finance Officer
(designated Senior Information
Risk Owner, (SIRO). The North
West Commissioning Support
Unit (CSU) provides IG support
and work with the CCG to
ensure compliance with the
IG Strategy. The CSU IG lead
attends the Governance
and Audit Committee when
required. The scores and
evidence for the toolkit are
audited by our internal auditors
and reviewed by the Governance
and Audit Committee prior
to sign off on behalf of the
Governing Body.

6.9 Risk Assessment
in Relation to
Governance, Risk
Management and
Internal Control
The system of internal control
and governance within the CCG
is based on an on-going risk
management process that is
embedded in the organisation
and combines the following
elements:

that adequate and timely
mitigating actions are
being undertaken
• the Assurance Framework
is the key risk identification
tool for the CCG. It contains
the significant risks to
the achievement of the
organisation’s objectives
as identified by the
Governing Body and staff
within the organisation.  
The Assurance Framework
enables the  Governing  
Body  to  monitor  
the  effectiveness  of  
controls  and  governance
arrangements required to
minimise the principal risks
• the Governance and
Audit Committee has the
delegated responsibility to
keep the risk management
processes and policies
under scrutiny. It discharges
this responsibility by
reviewing the corporate
risk log, the risk logs of
significant programmes,
the Governing Body
Assurance Framework and
the policies supporting risk
management.
61 http://www.easterncheshireccg.
nhs.uk/Downloads/Governing-Body/
Meetings/25-03-15/2.2%20%20ECCCG%20GB%20Assurance%20
Framework%20March%202015%20
FULL%20FINAL.pdf

• the CCG has a published
Integrated Risk
Management Strategy and
Policy document that is
available to all staff on the
CCGs Intranet. The purpose
of this policy is to ensure
that the CCG manages
risk in all areas using a
systematic and consistent
approach
• all risks are reviewed by
the Executive Committee
on a regular basis, thus
ensuring that the level
of risk reporting is in line
with expectations and
policy, as well as ensuring
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6.10 Significant
Risks
The CCG is confident that it has
a robust Assurance Framework
process in place that enables
mitigating action plans to be
effectively monitored by risk
owners and the Governing
Body. Through the Governing
Body Assurance Framework,
significant strategic risks are
presented to the Governing
Body on a monthly basis with
a list of actions for review and
comment and to provide a level
of assurance to the CCG as a
whole that these risks are being
addressed appropriately. During
2014-15 the Governing Body
have also implemented a “deep
dive” process where individual
risks are examined in depth
on a rotational basis, with risk
owners required to present a
detailed explanation of the risk,
its background and the actions
being taken to mitigate it.
The risks detailed below are
reviewed on a regular basis by
the Governing Body as part of
the Assurance Framework. The
Executive Committee contributes
to the scrutiny through regular
meetings with the Head of
Corporate Services, which will be
supported by reports from the
Primary (General Medical) Care
Services Joint Commissioning
Committee once this has been
established (from April 2015).

6.10.1
Co – Commissioning
of Primary (General
Medical) Care Services
From April 2015 the CCG has
agreed to enter a formal cocommissioning arrangement
with NHS England for the
commissioning of Primary
(General Medical) Care Services
with the intention to take on
the option of full delegated
responsibility from April 2016.
These additional responsibilities
mean that there are a number
of potential risks that could
have a significant impact on the
operation of the CCG.
These risks have been raised
individually within the Governing
Body Assurance Framework,
but in summary relate to the
following areas:
• insufficient capacity within
the CCGs staffing resource
pool to manage the new
responsibilities effectively,
potentially leading to
financial and
reputational risks
• increased potential for
perceived conflicts of
interest, and or lack
of clinical input into
commissioning decisions.
To mitigate the risks the CCG
has and is undertaking a number
of actions, including targeted
communications with its key
stakeholders:
• the Head of Corporate
Services has taken a
lead on communicating
and consulting with the
Primary Care Leads, the
Governing Body, Local
Practices, NHS England,
the Cheshire East Health
and Wellbeing Board, staff
and public facing groups
including Eastern Cheshire
HealthVoice
• a resource analysis
has been undertaken
in conjunction with
stakeholders and an action
plan has been developed
to ensure that appropriate

resources are in place to
deliver co-commissioning
• conflicts of interest
guidance has been
developed, along with
conflict of interest training.
to ensure that appropriate
expertise is available, the
CCG and NHS England
are actively seeking
appropriate individuals
to populate the joint
committee.

6.10.2 Delivery of the
Operational Plan
Pressures on hospital bed
capacity during the winter of
2014-15 have seen Accident and
Emergency and 18 week Referral
to Treatment (RTT) performance
slip under the national targets
in Quarter 4 of 2014. In
addition North West Ambulance
Service Emergency Ambulance
performance continues to be a
challenge in Eastern Cheshire
and across the North West.
These combined issues may
result in a longer term failure
to deliver the operational plan
with consequent, reputational,
financial and clinical risks.
To mitigate these risks, the CCG
through the System Resilience
Group (SRG) has commissioned
recovery plans for Accident
and Emergency and 18 Week
Referral to Treatment targets. A
separate recovery plan is being
developed for the North West
Ambulance Service performance
targets. Meetings have been
arranged with key stakeholders
(including NWAS) to identify any
opportunities to mitigate any
detriment in performance. With
regard to Delays in Transfer of
Care the CCG has been working
with the Department of Health
to identify opportunities for
improvement in conjunction
with local providers. In addition
to the external scrutiny, all of
these plans will be overseen and
monitored by the Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee, a
statutory subcommittee of the
Governing Body.
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6.10.3 Quality
Assurance in
Care Homes
The CCG has committed
to improving the quality of
services being delivered to
our population in all sectors
including care homes and in
2014-15 assigned additional
resources to the assessment,
monitoring and improvement
of care provided within care
homes. We now have a more
coordinated approach in
place. This includes shared
intelligence between a number
of organisations who provide
input into homes and a
fortnightly governance meeting
that includes the CCG, Local
Authority, and Care Quality
Commission where key decisions
are made e.g. preventing
further admissions into a
challenged provider. Regular
multidisciplinary unannounced
visits are now taking place in
Care Homes that provide funded
nursing care services.
This quality assurance process
has identified a number of
quality and safeguarding
concerns which have resulted in
restrictions being imposed at a
number of homes. Currently the
restrictions are in place at two
local care home providers.
There are a number of risks
associated with these services
not providing appropriate
levels of care. This risk has a
number of clinical, financial
and reputational elements.
To mitigate the risks the CCG
has established the process
described above and continues
to work in a collaborative
approach that have already seen
a number of improvements.
This quality assurance process is
overseen by the Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee as
a sub-committee accountable to
the Governing Body.

6.10.4 North West
Commissioning Support
Unit – Accreditation
The North West Commissioning
Support Unit (NWCSU), which
serves NHS Eastern Cheshire
CCG and other CCGs in
Cheshire, Merseyside and
Greater Manchester, were
unsuccessful in their bids for
accreditation to provide the full
range of end-to-end support
services on the Lead Provider
Framework.62 Therefore, the
NWCSU is no longer able to
operate in its current form
and has to seek an alternative
organisational form.
The risks to the CCG are
the potential disruption in
the provision of services as
transitional arrangements
are introduced and a longer
term solution is identified.
This includes key services such
as Information Technology,
Business Intelligence and Human
Resources support.
In order to mitigate the risks
associated with significant
changes in service delivery,
a Transition Board has been
formed to oversee and monitor
the progress of the CSU to its
new organisational form. This
board has senior representation
from the organisations affected
by the changes. In addition the
CCG is undertaking an options
appraisal to identify alternative
methods of delivering these
services in the future.

6.11 Review of
Economy, Efficiency
and Effectiveness
of the Use of
Resources

6.12 Review of the
Effectiveness of
Governance, Risk
Management and
Internal Control

The CCG has had a challenging
year and has successfully delivered
a surplus of £191,000 for its
second year of operation whilst
working with a historical inherited
deficit. This was a significant
improvement form the planned
deficit of circa £2million at the
beginning of financial year for the
year, despite planning for a deficit.

As Accountable Officer I have
responsibility for reviewing the
effectiveness of the system of
internal control within
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG.

This has required us to use our
resources to cover our expenditure
and not deliver the business rules.

The Governing Body is responsible
for the overall governance of the
organisation and is responsible
for reviewing the effectiveness
of the system of internal control,
including systems and resources
for managing all types of risk.
The Governing Body has ratified
the various risk based policies
through the Governance and
Audit Committee. These include
Standards of Business Conduct,
Safeguarding Adults and Children,
Counter Fraud process and
Information Governance policies
as well as reviewing the Integrated
Risk Management Strategy.

This approach was agreed and
supported by the Governing Body
as part of the 2014-15 Financial
Plan. The progress against this
plan has been routinely reported
to the Governing Body via the
Finance & Performance reports
prepared by our Chief Finance
Officer.
We continue on our Caring
Together programme which aims
to redesign the Health and Social
care system. Its objective is to
deliver a long term sustainable
future both in terms of quality and
money within the next five years.
This is the key Quality, Innovation,
Productivity and Prevention (QIPP)
scheme for the CCG. In addition,
we have a range of smaller
schemes aimed at ensuring
services are being provided
efficiently i.e. Prescribing.

Assurance around this specific
risk is given through the
Governing Body Assurance
Framework, which is updated
and reviewed by the Governing
Body and the Executive
Committee on a monthly basis.
62 https://www.england.nhs.uk/lpf/

49

6.13 Capacity to
Handle Risk

Mandatory staff training includes
Safeguarding, Counter Fraud,
Information Governance as well
as Safety Awareness training. The
CCG encourages it staff to seek,
be mindful of and adopt best
practice guidance to minimise and
manage risk – both personal and
corporate.

were transferred from the NHS
Central and Eastern Cheshire
Primary Care Trust to the CCG.

6.14 Review of
Effectiveness
My review of the effectiveness
of the system of internal control
is informed by the work of the
CCGs internal auditors (Mersey
Internal Audit Agency (MIAA))
and the executive managers
and clinical leads within the
CCG who have responsibility
for the development and
maintenance of the internal
control framework. I have drawn
on performance information
available to me.
Following completion of the
planned audit work for the
financial year for NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG, the Director
of Audit for MIAA issued an
independent and objective
opinion on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the CCGs
system of risk management,
governance and internal control.

The Head of Internal
Audit concluded that:

Following the transfer Cheshire
and Merseyside Commissioning
Support Unit (now part of
NWCSU) were contracted by the
CCG to provide administration
and clinical oversight of the
PHB and continuing healthcare
schemes. A review of these
services is now in progress
with an intention to restructure
the service as a hosted service
between a number of CCGs.
MIAA produced an Audit Report
with recommendations based
on this background of change,
increasing demand and shifting
responsibilities. An action plan
was agreed to implement its
seven recommendations.

Significant Assurance

6.15 Data Quality

can be given that that there
is a generally sound system
of internal control designed
to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls
are generally being applied
consistently. However, some
weaknesses in the design or
inconsistent application of
controls put the achievement of
particular objective at risk.
During the year the Internal
Audit issued six audit reports,
five gave “Significant
Assurance”, and one was
categorised as “Limited
Assurance”, detailed below:

Personal Health
Budgets: As part of the
agreed Internal Audit Plan for
2014-15, MIAA conducted
a review of the developing
processes within the CCG to
support personal health budgets
(PHBs). The national roll out of
PHBs commenced in November
2012 and a number of cases
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Our Governing Body and
Members have received a
variety of reports throughout
the year which are based on
good quality information that is
both transparent and concise.
This has been supported by
a number of independent
assurance checks via Mersey
Internal Audit which looked at
two specific areas, both of which
support the reporting through
to the Governing Body and its
Members:
• Data Quality. The audit did
not identify any high or
critical risk areas although
the CCG has committed
to a number of actions
to further improve the
quality of data we use.
These include development
of a data quality policy,
revisions to our contracts
with our main business
intelligence supplier (CSU)
and reviewing the data
validation checks we have
in place

• Formal Sub-Committee
arrangements. The aim was
to evaluate arrangements
in place to help ensure
each appointed committee
fulfils its intended function
in providing assurance
to the governing body.
Whilst five medium risk
recommendations were
highlighted, overall it
provided a solid basis from
which to work from
• Membership Reporting.
The overall objective of
the review was to evaluate
the mechanisms in place
to engage with and
communicate to the CCG
membership. The findings
highlighted significant
assurance.

6.16 Business
Critical Models
Within the CCG we have a
number of business models
which are used to support the
delivery of our statutory duties.
In line with the Macpherson
report these models have
a underpinning framework
that ensure each model has a
responsible owner within the
CCG who ensures the quality
assurance process is compliant
and appropriate, that model
risks, limitations and major
assumptions are understood
by users of the model, and the
use of the model outputs is
appropriate.

Untoward Incidents that were
reported to the Information
Commissioner’s Office

for which it is responsible,
including any restrictions on
delegation of those functions.

6.18 Discharge of
Statutory Functions

Responsibility for each duty
and power has been clearly
allocated to a lead Director.
Directorates have confirmed
that their structures provide the
necessary capability and capacity
to undertake all of the clinical
commissioning group’s statutory
duties.

During establishment, the
arrangements put in place by
the CCG and explained within
the Corporate Governance
Framework were developed with
extensive expert external legal
input, to ensure compliance
with the all relevant legislation.
That legal advice also
informed the matters reserved
for Membership Body and
Governing Body decision and
the scheme of reservation and
delegation.
In light of the Harris Review,
the CCG has reviewed all of
the statutory duties and powers
conferred on it by the National
Health Service Act 2006 (as
amended) and other associated
legislative and regulations. As
a result, I can confirm that the
CCG is clear about the legislative
requirements associated with
each of the statutory functions

6.17 Data Security
We have submitted a satisfactory
level of compliance with the
information governance toolkit
assessment and there were
no matters relating to Serious
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6.19 Conclusion
I would like to thank the role
of the Governance and Audit
Committee and both Internal
and External Audit in providing
assurance and advice around
our governance arrangements.
In conclusion I am happy to
confirm that no significant
control issues have been
identified in the preparation of
the 2014-15 Annual Report and
Accounts.
Jerry Hawker – Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
27 May 2015

Biographies
7. Biographies

Biographies of the members of NHS Eastern Cheshire
Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body and its committees

Dr Paul Bowen

Jerry Hawker

Dr Paul Bowen trained at
Nottingham University, and
completed his hospital and
general practice training in
Lincolnshire. He moved to
Cheshire in 2004 where he
worked as a GP in Macclesfield,
before becoming a partner at
McIlvride Medical Practice in
Poynton in 2006.
His special interests are in
diabetes, elderly care and
mental health.

Jerry joined the NHS in 2005
through the Department of
Health National Gateway to
Leadership scheme and held a
wide range of executive roles
in Central and Eastern Cheshire
PCT before joining the CCG.
Prior to joining the NHS, he
spent over 15 years in the
specialty chemical industry and
latterly running his own business
consultancy company. He
graduated as a Polymer Scientist
and holds a corporate MBA
from Babson College, USA.

CCG Chair
Chair of Governing Body
Governing Body Member

Paul became involved in
commissioning in 2007 where
he became chair of the local
practice based commissioning
group, and then a member and
chair of the PCTs commissioning
executive (formally PEC). Paul
has a passion for patient
centred care, through integrated
working across health and social
sectors. His interests also lie in
the use of technology and IT to
bring patients and professionals
closer together, through
improved communication and
collaboration.

Chief Officer
(Accountable Officer)
Governing Body Member

He is particularly interested
in how the NHS can expand
its partnership with the
Voluntary sector and how the
use of patient experiences
can underpin continuous
improvement both in clinical
outcomes and the experience
communities have of their local
NHS services.
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Alex Mitchell

Chief Finance Officer
Governing Body Member
Alex started his finance career in
1988 with Marks and Spencer’s
and having developed an
interest in this area, applied
for a role within the NHS in
1991. He has worked in Acute
Hospitals, Community Providers,
Primary Care Trusts and now
Clinical Commissioning
Groups, all of which have
provided him with a variety of
experience and opportunities.
Alex is a member and fellow of
the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and feels
that by working within the NHS
that he is applying his skills and
energy on behalf of the public.

Gerry Gray

Gill Boston

Gerry is a graduate of Liverpool
University and a Fellow of
the Chartered Institute of
Management Accountants. He
has extensive
experience of international
business having spent more
than 30 years in senior financial
roles in blue chip multi-national
organisations such as
Ford Motor Company,
PriceWaterhouse Coopers,
Courtaulds and Pilkington,
including four years based
in the USA.

Gill works as the programme
manager for The National
Care Forum and Voluntary
Organisations Disability
Group on the Department
of Health funded Voluntary
Sector Organisations Strategic
Partnership Programme. She is
a qualified social worker and
holds and Honours degree in
social studies and an MA in
Community Care.

Lay Member for
Governance and Audit,
Governing Body Member –
Deputy Chair
Member of:
Chair of Governance
and Audit Committee,
Chair of Remuneration
Committee

Gerry is a non-executive
director at Regenda Housing
Association, and is Chairman of
Community Catalysts, which is a
national charity involved in the
field of micro social enterprise.

Lay Member for Public and
Patient Involvement
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee
and Chair of Clinical and
Quality Performance
Committee

Gill has worked in various
management and monitoring
roles for the Local Authority
before moving in to higher
education where she spent the
next 13 years as a senior lecturer
in health and social care at the
University of Salford before
moving to her current role in
October 2009. She is particularly
interested in commissioning
partnerships with the Voluntary
and Community Sector and how
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CCGs can engage with and
commission for people who are
Vulnerable, marginalised and
whose voices are seldom heard.
Gill is also the Chair of the
Board of Salford Health Matters,
a Community Interest Company
that provides high quality health
services in Salford and invests
in extra services to improve the
health and wellbeing of the
local community.
As well as representing the
views of the public and patients
on the Governing Body and
its sub-committees, Gill is also
takes the Governing Body
lead on equality and diversity
and is also a member of the
Complaints and Concerns
committee.

Sally Rogers

Bill Swann

Sally is a registered general
nurse who completed return to
practice, nursing at Manchester
University in March 2011. She
worked for 13 years
in industry before returning
to the health service eight
years ago leading a regional
programme of work for The
National Institute for Mental
Health England. She remains
passionate about the quality of
care we deliver, particularly to
older people.

Bill is a Chartered
Mathematician having
graduated from Nottingham,
University, and holds a masters
degree in Systems Engineering
from Lancaster University. He
worked with ICI in various
roles, primarily concerned with
applying computers to business,
engineering, and production
issues in different parts of the
company, latterly as Information
Services Supply Manager in the
Pharmaceuticals business, now
AstraZeneca.

Registered Nurse
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
and Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee

Sally has been developing a
bespoke ‘Leadership for Quality
in General Practice Nursing’
course with local and National
colleagues, which will be
launched in May 2015 and
academically evaluated and
piloted in Eastern and South
Cheshire CCGs.
Sally is also an Executive
Board member of the National
Association of Primary Care
working in partnership with the
NHS Confederation.

Lay Member for Public and
Patient Involvement
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance and
Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee

When his wife developed
mental and physical disabilities
he took early retirement to
become her carer, a role he
undertook for sixteen years
until her death in 2013. From
his experiences as a carer, he
realised that many of those with
health and social issues, and
their carers, find it very difficult
to secure the services and help
they need. He resolved to try to
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help improve the situation and
became involved in numerous
voluntary activities, including
establishing and chairing the
East Cheshire Carers Relevance
Group. He also joined the
board of Making Space, a
national charity concerned with
providing services to those with
mental health issues and their
carers, a position he continues
to hold.
Memories of his wife continue
to provide the inspiration for
his work with the CCG, where
his main interest is in helping
develop integrated care, both
within health and between
health and social care.
As well as representing the
views of the public and patients
on the Governing Body and its
sub-committees, Bill is also a
member of the Caring Together
Leadership Forum.

Duncan Matheson
Secondary Care Doctor
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee,
Clinical and Quality
Performance Committee

Duncan trained as a medical
student at Oxford and St
Thomas’ Hospital, London and
qualified as a doctor in 1970.
Following posts in
London his surgical training
was mostly in Birmingham and
the West Midlands and he was
appointed Consultant Surgeon
in Macclesfield in 1984.
Duncan set up a vascular
surgical service in East Cheshire
as well as working across the
breadth of general surgery but
as the nature of surgical services
changed so did his focus and
in his latter years was purely a
breast surgeon. Duncan retired
as a consultant in 2010.

Joanne Morton

General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Alderley Edge,
Chelford, Handforth
and Wilmslow
Governing Body Member
Joanne has 30 years of
management experience across
both the Health and Private
sectors. For the last 13 years
she has worked as a practice
manager, initially for a practice
in Trafford Primary Care Trust
area, and latterly for a practice
within Eastern Cheshire CCGs
area.
In May 2014 she was appointed
to serve as Peer Group
Lead representing Chelford,
Handforth, Alderley and
Wilmslow.

Julie Sercombe

General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Congleton and
Holmes Chapel
Governing Body Member
Julie began her nursing career in
1983, qualifying as a Registered
General Nurse three years later
at Manchester Royal Infirmary.
Since that time Julie has been
in continuous NHS employment
apart from a short maternity
leave in 1989.
Her clinical experience has
involved working in Secondary
care, Primary Care and the
Community, with the longest
post being in a GP Practice in
Northwich for 16 years, initially
setting up a Practice Nurse
Service in response to the 1990
GP Contract.
In 2005 Julie completed and
was awarded a BSc Honours
Nurse Practitioner degree (First
Class) and also become an
Independent Nurse Prescriber.
Additionally, Julie has completed
a Post Graduate Certificate
in Managing Long Term
Conditions at Masters Level,
which supported her role whilst
working as a Community
Matron in Crewe.
Julie has been a Governor at
a local Primary school for the
past 18 years (including Chair)
and up until recently has also
been a respite foster carer for a
looked-after child with autism
and attachment disorder – an
experience she believes which
has taught her a great deal
about patience, perspective
and resilience.
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Dr Mike Clark

General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Macclesfield
Governing Body Member
Dr Mike Clark MB ChB MRCS
MRCGP graduated from
Manchester University in 1995.
Mike has been a GP Partner at
High Street Surgery, Macclesfield
since 2005, and is the practices
prescribing lead. Alongside
his work in practice Mike is a
GP with a specialist interest in
Urology, vasectomy and minor
surgery.
His work in the CCG focuses on
the Empowered Person, shared
decision making and supported
self-management, as well as
leading on several clinical areas
including Ophthalmology and
Gastroenterology (two areas
that have seen significant
capacity and demand issues
this last year). He is a strong
advocate of shifting the focus of
care towards the individual and
facilitating patients being able
to take responsibility for their
own care.

Angela Wales

Dr Jennifer Lawn

Angela has worked in Health
Service for 39 years initially in
secondary care then to General
Practice. She has worked as a
Practice Manager for the 20
years and is passionate about
the NHS.

Dr Jennifer Lawn MB ChB
Manchester has over 20 years
experience as a partner at Toft
Road Surgery, Knutsford caring
for a
representative cross section of
the local population.

During her career she has had a
variety of opportunities working
with Primary Care Trust’s, the
NHS Alliance and helping guide
practices through Practice
Based Commissioning. She
has experienced fund holding
where practices held their
own budgets and has seen the
advantages that practice based
commissioning could achieve
- bringing care closer to home
for patients. Whilst this has now
been replaced, the fundamental
ethos remains the same for
Clinical Commissioning Groups.

She has been Practice Lead
attending locality meetings
for many years and has been
involved in the evolution of
the CCG. She is enthusiastic
about improving healthcare
in the local community whilst
ensuring efficient use of limited
resources.

General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Bollington,
Disley and Poynton
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee

56

General Practice Locality
Peer Group Lead Knutsford
Governing Body Member
Member of: Governance
and Audit Committee,
Remuneration
Committee

Members of the Governing
body without a vote

Dr Julie Sin

Consultant in Public Health
Medicine, Cheshire East Council
Governing Body Member
Julie first joined the NHS over
twenty years ago. A graduate of
Manchester University her early
career spanned the breadth of
hospital care, primary care and
community health giving her
invaluable insights into care
across the NHS system.
After completing general
practice training in 1994 and
further work in reproductive
healthcare she entered the
field of public health medicine.
In 2009 she joined Central
and Eastern Cheshire Primary
Care Trust to develop and lead
its healthcare public health
function and was key to the
safe transition of the healthcare
public health function locally
during the 2013 reforms.

Melanie Lyman

General Practice Locality Peer
Group Lead Congleton and
Holmes Chapel
(until end April 2014)
Member of Governing Body,
Governance and Audit
Committee
Melanie worked in General
Practice for the last 33 years,
originally training as a Medical
Secretary. She gained a Practice
Management qualification
approximately 26 years ago and
has been employed as
a Practice Manager working in
Eastern Cheshire for all of this
time.
Melanie has been involved with
commissioning of services for
the past eight years

Combining her breadth of NHS
experience and population
medicine, Julie has worked with
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
since its inception, providing
advice and support during its
early development through
to its current fully authorised
function.
Julie's Governing Body
role around population
healthcare ensures there is
specific challenge to the CCG
commissioning strategy so that
it has due regard to health gain,
evidence-based approaches, and
population outcomes.
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Neil Evans

Commissioning Director
Governing Body Member
Member of: Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee
Neil joined the NHS in 2008
having previously worked in a
variety of operational, planning
and change roles in Financial
Services.
Neil was recruited to the NHS
through a national leadership
development programme and
initially worked in the Acute
Sector in both Operational
and Project Management roles
before moving to Central and
Eastern Primary Care Trust in
August 2009.
Neil has been involved in
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG
since its inception.

Members of subcommittees
of the Governing Body

Fleur Blakeman

Director of Strategy and
Transformation
Governing Body Member
Fleur qualified as a Registered
General Nurse in 1991 and
completed a Return to Nursing
Practice course in 2013. Having
qualified as a Nurse Fleur
then went to University to
complete a degree in Health
Sciences and has a number of
post graduate qualifications
including a Masters in Health
Services Management. Fleur
has also been fortunate enough
to complete the Advanced
Management Programme at
Ashridge Business School.
Fleur has worked in a number
of different roles within the
Private Health Sector, and in the
NHS has worked in providers
of acute, mental health and
specialist health services as well
as in a number of different
commissioning organisations.
Fleur was part of the Sir Bruce
Keogh review of hospitals and
has more recently participated
in the Care Quality Commission
inspections of hospitals.

Jacki Wilkes

Andrew Binnie

Jacki is a qualified nurse,
specialising in intensive care and
with experience in operational
management in the acute
sector. Her commissioning
experience began in 2006 in
North Staffordshire and later
in Eastern Cheshire where she
joined the team to support
the development of clinical
commissioning.

Andrew has been in post since
August 2013 and has over
ten years’ experience in the
health service, in particular
with a specialty of performance
management.

Associate Director of
Commissioning
Member of: Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee

Jacki’s interest is in service
improvement and redesign and
she is currently responsible for
continuous quality improvement
and joint commissioning.
Current priorities include quality
in care homes, access to mental
health services and supporting
the development of integrated
services such as stroke care
building on the principles
underpinning the Caring
Together programme.

Fleur has also been a Trustee at
Wirral CVS (a voluntary sector
organisation).

Quality and
Performance Manager
Member of: Clinical Quality
and Performance Committee

In his previous role at Salford
Royal NHS Foundation Trust
as Corporate Performance
manger he was responsible for
all of the Trusts statutory and
mandatory performance returns
to the Department of Health
and also specialised in quality
improvement work throughout
the Trust.
Prior to this position he worked
at Tameside and Glossop
Primary Care Trust as the
performance manager.

Dr Julia Huddart

Executive GP for Clinical
Leadership Team
Clinical Quality and
Performance Committee

A wife and mother of two
children Fleur is committed to
improving health services and
the health and wellbeing of the
local population

Dr Julia Huddart MB ChB DCH
DRCOG MRCGP has been a GP
in Wilmslow since 1983. She
has been a trainer in General
Practice for over 16 years
and has had over 20 years’
experience in the position of
Clinical Assistant Palliative Care
at East Cheshire Hospice.
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auditor’s

8. Independent auditor’s report
to the members of NHS Eastern Cheshire Clinical Commissioning Group

We have audited the financial
statements of NHS Eastern
Cheshire Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) for the year
ended 31 March 2015 under
the Audit Commission Act
1998. The financial statements
comprise the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
the Statement of Financial
Position, the Statement of
Changes in Taxpayers' Equity,
the Statement of Cash Flows
and the related notes. The
financial reporting framework
that has been applied in their
preparation is applicable law and
the accounting policies directed
by the NHS Commissioning
Board with the consent of the
Secretary of State as relevant to
the National Health Service in
England.
We have also audited the
information in the Remuneration
Report that is subject to audit,
being:
• the table of salaries and
allowances of senior
managers and related
narrative notes on pages 37
to 38
• the table of pension benefits
of senior managers and
related narrative notes on
pages 39 to 40
• the pay multiples and related
narrative note on page 35.
This report is made solely to
the members of NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG in accordance
with Part II of the Audit
Commission Act 1998 and for
no other purpose, as set out in
paragraph 44 of the Statement
of Responsibilities of Auditors
and Audited Bodies published by
the Audit Commission in March
2014. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility
to anyone other than the CCG's

members and the CCG as a
body, for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we
have formed.

Respective responsibilities of
the Accountable Officer and
auditor
As explained more fully in the
Statement of Accountable
Officer's Responsibilities,
the Accountable Officer is
responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that
they give a true and fair view.
Our responsibility is to audit
and express an opinion on
the financial statements in
accordance with applicable law
and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards also require
us to comply with the Auditing
Practices Board's Ethical
Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the
financial statements
An audit involves obtaining
evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free
from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud
or error. This includes an
assessment of: whether
the accounting policies are
appropriate to the CCG's
circumstances and have been
consistently applied and
adequately disclosed; the
reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by
the Accountable Officer, and
the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
In addition, we read all the
financial and non-financial
information in the annual
report which comprises the
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Foreword, Member Practices
Introduction, Strategic
Report, Members Report,
Remuneration Report, Statement
of Accountable Officer
Responsibilities and Annual
Governance Statement to
identify material inconsistencies
with the audited financial
statements and to identify any
information that is apparently
materially incorrect based on, or
materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the
course of performing the audit.
If we become aware of any
apparent material misstatements
or inconsistencies we consider
the implications for our report.
In addition, we are required
to obtain evidence sufficient
to give reasonable assurance
that the expenditure and
income reported in the financial
statements have been applied
to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.

Opinion on regularity
In our opinion, in all material
respects the expenditure and
income reported in the financial
statements have been applied
to the purposes intended by
Parliament and the financial
transactions conform to the
authorities which govern them.

Opinion on financial
statements
In our opinion the financial
statements:
• give a true and fair view of
the financial position of NHS
Eastern Cheshire CCG as at
31 March 2015 and of its net
operating costs for the year
then ended

• have been prepared properly
in accordance with the
accounting policies directed
by the NHS Commissioning
Board with the consent of the
Secretary of State as relevant
to the National Health Service
in England.

Opinion on other matters
In our opinion:
• the part of the Remuneration
Report subject to audit has
been prepared properly
in accordance with the
requirements directed by the
NHS Commissioning Board
with the consent of the
Secretary of State as relevant
to the National Health Service
in England
• the information given in
the Annual Report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are
prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.

Matters on which we report
by exception
We report to you if:
• in our opinion the governance
statement does not reflect
compliance with NHS
England's Guidance

Conclusion on the CCG's
arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use
of resources
Respective responsibilities of
the CCG and auditor
The CCG is responsible
for putting in place proper
arrangements to secure
economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in its use of
resources, to ensure proper
stewardship and governance,
and to review regularly the
adequacy and effectiveness of
these arrangements.
We are required under Section
5 of the Audit Commission
Act 1998 to satisfy ourselves
that the CCG has made
proper arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources. The Code of Audit
Practice issued by the Audit
Commission requires us to
report to you our conclusion
relating to proper arrangements,
having regard to relevant
criteria specified by the Audit
Commission in October 2014.

• we refer a matter to the
Secretary of State under
section 19 of the Audit
Commission Act 1998
because we have reason to
believe that the CCG, or an
officer of the CCG, is about
to make, or has made, a
decision involving unlawful
expenditure, or is about to
take, or has taken, unlawful
action likely to cause a loss or
deficiency

We report if significant matters
have come to our attention
which prevent us from
concluding that the CCG has put
in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources. We are not required
to consider, nor have we
considered, whether all aspects
of the CCG's arrangements for
securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use
of resources are operating
effectively.

• we issue a report in the public
interest under section 8 of the
Audit Commission Act 1998.
We have nothing to report in
these respects.

Scope of the review of
arrangements for securing
economy, efficiency and
effectiveness in the use of
resources
We have undertaken our review
in accordance with the Code of
Audit Practice, having regard to
the guidance on the specified
criteria, published by the Audit
Commission in October 2014, as
to whether the CCG has proper
arrangements for:
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• securing financial resilience
• challenging how it secures
economy, efficiency and
effectiveness.
The Audit Commission has
determined these two criteria
as those necessary for us to
consider under the Code of
Audit Practice in satisfying
ourselves whether the CCG put
in place proper arrangements
for securing economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31
March 2015.
We planned our work in
accordance with the Code of
Audit Practice. Based on our
risk assessment, we undertook
such work as we considered
necessary to form a view on
whether, in all significant
respects, the CCG had put in
place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources.

Conclusion
On the basis of our work, having
regard to the guidance on the
specified criteria published
by the Audit Commission in
October 2014, we are satisfied
that, in all significant respects,
NHS Eastern Cheshire CCG put
in place proper arrangements
to secure economy, efficiency
and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ending 31
March 2015.

Certificate
We certify that we have
completed the audit of the
accounts of NHS Eastern
Cheshire CCG in accordance
with the requirements of the
Audit Commission Act 1998
and the Code of Audit Practice
issued by the Audit Commission.
Robin Baker				
Director
for and on behalf of Grant
Thornton LLO, Appointed
Auditor
Royal Liver Building Liverpool
L3 1PS
28 May 2015
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Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure
for the year ended 31 March 2015
2014-15		
£000		

2013-14
£000

4.1.1		

2,803		

2,164

Operating Expenses

5		

227,429		

220,119

Other operating revenue

2

			
Note		
Total Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits

Net operating expenditure before interest
Finance costs

(344)

(217)

		

229,888		

222,066

10		

-		

1

		
Total Net Expenditure for the year		
229,888
222,067
Of which:
Administration Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits

4.1.1		

2,236		

1,912

Operating Expenses

5		

2,307		

2,600

Other operating revenue

2

(59)

(15)

Net administration costs before interest		

4,484

4,497

Programme Income and Expenditure
Employee benefits

4.1.1		

567		

252

Operating Expenses

5		

225,122		

217,519

Other operating revenue

2

(285)

(202)

Net programme expenditure before interest		

225,404

217,569

		
Total comprehensive net expenditure for the year		

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements.
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229,888

222,067

Statement of Financial Position
for the year ended 31 March 2015
			 31 March 2015		 31 March 2014
Note		
£000		
£000
Non-current assets:
Property, plant and equipment

11

Total non-current assets			

118

-

118		

-

Current assets:
Trade and other receivables

12		

2,522		

341

Cash and cash equivalents

13

144

459

Total current assets		

2,666

800

		
Total assets		

2,784

800

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

14		

(12,601)		

(11,927)

Provisions

15

(713)

-

Total current liabilities		

(13,314)

(11,927)

		
Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current Assets/Liabilities		

(10,530)

(11,127)

		
Assets less Liabilities		
(10,530)
(11,127)
Financed by Taxpayers’ Equity
General fund		

(10,530)

(11,127)

Total taxpayers' equity:		

(10,530)

(11,127)

The financial statements on pages 62 to 86 were approved and authorised for issue by
the Governing Body on 27 May and signed on its behalf by:
Jerry Hawker
Accountable Officer
27 May 2015
The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity
for the year ended 31 March 2015
			
			
			

General		
fund		
£000		

Total
reserves
£000

(11,127)		

(11,127)

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Balance at 1 April 2014			
Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
taxpayers’ equity for 2014-15
Net operating expenditure for the financial year		
(229,888)

(229,888)

Net Recognised Expenditure for the Financial Year			

(229,888)

(229,888)		

Net funding		

230,485

230,485

Balance at 31 March 2015		

(10,530)

(10,530)

			
			
			

General		
fund		
£000		

Total
reserves
£000

Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Balance at 1 April 2013			

-		

-

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group
taxpayers’ equity for 2013-14
Net operating costs for the financial year		

(222,067)

(222,067)

Net Recognised Expenditure for the Financial Year		

(222,067)

(222,067)

Net funding		

210,940

210,940

Balance at 31 March 2014		

(11,127)

(11,127)

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Cashflows
for the year ended 31 March 2015
			
Note		

2014-15		
£000		

2013-14
£000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net operating expenditure for the financial year			

(229,888)		

(222,067)

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables

12		

(2,181)		

(341)

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables

14		

674		

11,927

Increase/(decrease) in provisions

15

713

-

(230,683)

(210,481)

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities			
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

(Payments) for property, plant and equipment		
(118)

-

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Investing Activities			

(118)		

-

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing			

(230,800)		

(210,481)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Grant in Aid Funding Received

230,485

210,940

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities			

230,485		

210,940

		
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents

13

(315)

459

Cash & Cash Equivalents
at the Beginning of the Financial Year		

459

-

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts)
at the End of the Financial Year		

144

459

The notes on pages 66 to 86 form part of these financial statements.

65

Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2015
1 Accounting Policies
				
NHS England has directed that
the financial statements of
Clinical Commissioning Groups
shall meet the accounting
requirements of the Manual
for Accounts issued by
the Department of Health.
Consequently, the following
financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
Manual for Accounts
2014-15 issued by the
Department of Health. The
accounting policies contained
in the Manual for Accounts
follow International Financial
Reporting Standards to the
extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to Clinical
Commissioning Groups, as
determined by HM Treasury,
which is advised by the Financial
Reporting Advisory Board. Where
the Manual for Accounts permits
a choice of accounting policy,
the accounting policy which is
judged to be most appropriate
to the particular circumstances
of the Clinical Commissioning
Group for the purpose of
giving a true and fair view has
been selected. The particular
policies adopted by the Clinical
Commissioning Group are
described below. They have been
applied consistently in dealing
with items considered material in
relation to the accounts.

1.1 Going Concern
These accounts have been
prepared on the going concern
basis.
Public sector bodies are assumed
to be going concerns where the
continuation of the provision
of a service in the future is
anticipated, as evidenced by
inclusion of financial provision
for that service in published
documents.

Where a clinical commissioning
group ceases to exist, it considers
whether or not its services
will continue to be provided
(using the same assets, by
another public sector entity) in
determining whether to use the
concept of going concern for the
final set of Financial Statements.
If services will continue to be
provided the financial statements
are prepared on the going
concern basis.

1.2 Accounting
Convention
These accounts have been
prepared under the historical
cost convention modified to
account for the revaluation of
property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, inventories
and certain financial assets and
financial liabilities.

1.3 Acquisitions
& Discontinued
Operations
Activities are considered to be
‘acquired’ only if they are taken
on from outside the public
sector. Activities are considered
to be ‘discontinued’ only if they
cease entirely. They are not
considered to be ‘discontinued’
if they transfer from one public
sector body to another.

1.4 Movement of Assets
within the Department
of Health Group
Transfers as part of
reorganisation fall to be
accounted for by use of
absorption accounting in line
with the Government Financial
Reporting Manual, issued by
HM Treasury. The Government
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Financial Reporting Manual
does not require retrospective
adoption, so prior year
transactions (which have been
accounted for under merger
accounting) have not been
restated. Absorption accounting
requires that entities account for
their transactions in the period
in which they took place, with
no restatement of performance
required when functions transfer
within the public sector. Where
assets and liabilities transfer,
the gain or loss resulting is
recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Net Expenditure,
and is disclosed separately from
operating costs.
Other transfers of assets and
liabilities within the Department
of Health Group are accounted
for in line with IAS 20 and
similarly give rise to income and
expenditure entries.

1.5 Pooled Budgets
Where the Clinical
Commissioning Group has
entered into a pooled budget
arrangement under Section 75 of
the National Health Service Act
2006 the Clinical Commissioning
Group accounts for its share of
the assets, liabilities, income and
expenditure arising from the
activities of the pooled budget,
identified in accordance with the
pooled budget agreement.
If the Clinical Commissioning
Group is in a “jointly
controlled operation”, the
Clinical Commissioning Group
recognises:
• The assets the Clinical
Commissioning Group
controls
• The liabilities the Clinical
Commissioning Group incurs

• The expenses the Clinical
Commissioning Group incurs
• The Clinical Commissioning
Group’s share of the income
from the pooled budget
activities.
If the clinical commissioning
group is involved in a “jointly
controlled assets” arrangement,
in addition to the above, the
Clinical Commissioning Group
recognises:
• The Clinical Commissioning
Group’s share of the jointly
controlled assets (classified
according to the nature of the
assets)
• The Clinical Commissioning
Group’s share of any liabilities
incurred jointly
• The Clinical Commissioning
Group’s share of the expenses
jointly incurred.

1.6 Critical Accounting
Judgements & Key
Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
In the application of the
Clinical Commissioning
Group’s accounting policies,
management is required to
make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are
based on historical experience
and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from those
estimates and the estimates
and underlying assumptions are
continually reviewed. Revisions
to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which
the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period
or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future
periods.

1.6.1 Critical Judgements in
Applying Accounting Policies
The following are the critical
judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below)
that management has made
in the process of applying the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s
accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in
the financial statements. Key
judgements in the preparation of
the financial statements are:
• ensuring that appropriate
estimates are made for areas
of estimation uncertainty as
set out below
• ensuring that appropriate
policies are in place for
recognising contractual
liabilities
• ensuring that appropriate
policies are in place for
considering any claims legal or
for continuing health care.

1.6.2 Key Sources of
Estimation Uncertainty
The following are the key
estimations that management
has made in the process
of applying the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s
accounting policies that have
the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:
• Claims for continuing health
care from 1 April 2013 are
provided to the extent that
a reasonable estimate can
be made for the amount of
the claim and the potential
success of any claim. As
NHS England has assumed
responsibility for claims
received prior to 31 March
2013, the CCG is responsible
only for claims received since
that date. The estimated
amount in respect of
previously unassessed periods
of care is of such claims at
the year end is £713,000
(2013/14 - £Nil).
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• Data in respect of prescribing
costs are usually received
two months in arrears and it
is necessary to estimate the
amount that will be payable
for the last two months of the
year. This estimate is based
on a prescribing spend profile
issued by NHS England. The
amount estimated at the year
end is £4,975,000 (2013/14 £4,943,000).
• Partially completed spells are
periods of care for which the
provider of those services
has not billed their costs.
The providers provide an
estimate of the costs that
need to be billed and this
estimate is checked to ensure
it is reasonable in the light of
data in relation to stays. The
amount is agreed between
the provider and the CCG.
The total amount accrued at
the year end is £1,091,000
(2013/14 - £918,000).

1.7 Revenue
Revenue in respect of services
provided is recognised when,
and to the extent that,
performance occurs, and is
measured at the fair value of the
consideration receivable.
Where income is received for
a specific activity that is to be
delivered in the following year,
that income is deferred.

1.8 Employee Benefits
1.8.1 Short-term
Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employmentrelated payments are recognised
in the period in which the service
is received from employees,
including bonuses earned but
not yet taken.
The cost of leave earned but
not taken by employees at the
end of the period is recognised
in the financial statements to
the extent that employees are
permitted to carry forward leave

into the following period. As
leave is not carried forward, the
estimate amounts to £Nil

1.8.2 Retirement
Benefit Costs
Past and present employees are
covered by the provisions of the
NHS Pensions Scheme. Details of
the benefits payable under these
provisions can be found on the
NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions.
The scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, General
Practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction
of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The scheme
is not designed to be run in a
way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore,
the scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost
to the Clinical Commissioning
Group of participating in the
scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to
the scheme for the accounting
period.
For early retirements other
than those due to ill health the
additional pension liabilities are
not funded by the scheme. The
full amount of the liability for
the additional costs is charged
to expenditure at the time the
Clinical Commissioning Group
commits itself to the retirement,
regardless of the method of
payment.

1.9 Other Expenses
Other operating expenses are
recognised when, and to the
extent that, the goods or services
have been received. They are
measured at the fair value of the
consideration payable.
Expenses and liabilities in respect
of grants are recognised when

the Clinical Commissioning
Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation, which
occurs when all of the conditions
attached to the payment have
been met.

1.10 Property, Plant &
Equipment
Recognition
Property, plant and equipment is
capitalised if:
• It is held for use in delivering
services or for administrative
purposes
• It is probable that future
economic benefits will flow
to, or service potential will
be supplied to the clinical
commissioning group
• It is expected to be used for
more than one financial year
• The cost of the item can be
measured reliably
• The item has a cost of at least
£5,000 or,
• Collectively, a number of
items have a cost of at least
£5,000 and individually
have a cost of more than
£250, where the assets are
functionally interdependent,
they had broadly
simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to
have simultaneous disposal
dates and are under single
managerial control
• Items form part of the initial
equipping and setting-up
cost of a new building, ward
or unit, irrespective of their
individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for
example a building, includes
a number of components
with significantly different
asset lives, the components
are treated as separate assets
and depreciated over their own
useful economic lives.
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Valuation
All property, plant and equipment
are measured initially at cost,
representing the cost directly
attributable to acquiring or
constructing the asset and bringing
it to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended
by management. All assets are
measured subsequently at fair
value.
Fixtures and equipment are
carried at depreciated historic
cost as this is not considered to
be materially different from
fair value.

Subsequent Expenditure
Where subsequent expenditure
enhances an asset beyond its
original specification, the
directly attributable cost is
capitalised. Where subsequent
expenditure restores the asset
to its original specification, the
expenditure is capitalised and
any existing carrying value
of the item replaced is writtenout and charged to operating
expenses.

1.11 Government
Grants
The value of assets received by
means of a government grant
are credited directly to income.
Deferred income is recognised
only where conditions attached
to the grant preclude immediate
recognition of the gain.

1.12 Leases
Leases are classified as finance
leases when substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership
are transferred to the lessee.
All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

1.12.1 The Clinical
Commissioning Group
as Lessee
Property, plant and equipment
held under finance leases are

initially recognised, at the
inception of the lease, at fair
value or, if lower, at the present
value of the minimum lease
payments, with a matching
liability for the lease obligation
to the lessor. Lease payments are
apportioned between finance
charges and reduction of the
lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate on interest on
the remaining balance of the
liability. Finance charges are
recognised in calculating the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus/deficit.
Operating lease payments are
recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Lease incentives are
recognised initially as a liability
and subsequently as a reduction
of rentals on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
Contingent rentals are
recognised as an expense in
the period in which they are
incurred.
Where a lease is for land and
buildings, the land and building
components are separated
and individually assessed as to
whether they are operating or
finance leases.

1.13 Cash & Cash
Equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and
deposits with any financial
institution repayable without
penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents
are investments that mature in 3
months or less from the date of
acquisition and that are readily
convertible to known amounts
of cash with insignificant risk of
change in value.
In the Statement of Cash Flows,
cash and cash equivalents are
shown net of bank overdrafts
that are repayable on demand
and that form an integral part
of the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s cash management.

1.14 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when
the clinical commissioning
group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result
of a past event, it is probable
that the Clinical Commissioning
Group will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable
estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a
provision is the best estimate
of the expenditure required to
settle the obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and
uncertainties. Where a provision
is measured using the cash
flows estimated to settle the
obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those
cash flows using HM Treasury’s
discount rate as follows:
• Timing of cash flows
(0 to 5 years inclusive):
Minus 1.50%
• Timing of cash flows
(6 to 10 years inclusive):
Minus 1.05%
• Timing of cash flows
(over 10 years):
Plus 2.20%
• All employee
early departures: 1.30%.
When some or all of the
economic benefits required to
settle a provision are expected to
be recovered from a third party,
the receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursements will be received
and the amount of the receivable
can be measured reliably.
A restructuring provision is
recognised when the Clinical
Commissioning Group has
developed a detailed formal
plan for the restructuring and
has raised a valid expectation
in those affected that it will
carry out the restructuring by
starting to implement the plan
or announcing its main features
to those affected by it. The
measurement of a restructuring

69

provision includes only the
direct expenditures arising from
the restructuring, which are
those amounts that are both
necessarily entailed by the
restructuring and not associated
with on-going activities of the
entity.

1.15 Clinical
Negligence Costs
The NHS Litigation Authority
operates a risk pooling scheme
under which the Clinical
Commissioning Group pays
an annual contribution to
the NHS Litigation Authority
which in return settles all
clinical negligence claims.
The contribution is charged
to expenditure. Although the
NHS Litigation Authority is
administratively responsible for
all clinical negligence cases the
legal liability remains with the
Clinical Commissioning Group.

1.16 Non-clinical
Risk Pooling
The Clinical Commissioning
Group participates in the
Property Expenses Scheme and
the Liabilities to Third Parties
Scheme. Both are risk pooling
schemes under which the Clinical
Commissioning Group pays
an annual contribution to the
NHS Litigation Authority and,
in return, receives assistance
with the costs of claims arising.
The annual membership
contributions, and any excesses
payable in respect of particular
claims are charged to operating
expenses as and when they
become due.

1.17 NHS Continuing
Healthcare Risk Pooling
In 2014-15 a risk pool scheme
has been introduced by NHS
England for NHS Continuing
Healthcare claims, for claim
periods prior to 31 March
2013. Under the scheme clinical
commissioning groups contribute
annually to a pooled fund, which
is used to settle the claims.

1.18 Contingencies
A contingent liability is a
possible obligation that arises
from past events and whose
existence will be confirmed
only by the occurrence or nonoccurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the
Clinical Commissioning Group,
or a present obligation that is
not recognised because it is not
probable that a payment will be
required to settle the obligation
or the amount of the obligation
cannot be measured sufficiently
reliably. A contingent liability is
disclosed unless the possibility of
a payment is remote.
A contingent asset is a possible
asset that arises from past events
and whose existence will be
confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not
wholly within the control of the
Clinical Commissioning Group.
A contingent asset is disclosed
where an inflow of economic
benefits is probable.
Where the time value of money
is material, contingencies are
disclosed at their present value.

1.19 Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised
when the Clinical Commissioning
Group becomes party to the
financial instrument contract or,
in the case of trade receivables,
when the goods or services have
been delivered. Financial assets
are derecognised when the
contractual rights have expired or
the asset has been transferred.
Financial assets are classified into
the following categories:
• Financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss
• Held to maturity investments
• Available-for-sale financial
assets
• Loans and receivables.

The classification depends
on the nature and purpose
of the financial assets and is
determined at the time of initial
recognition.

1.19.1 Financial Assets at Fair
Value Through Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have
different risks and characteristics
to their host contracts, and
contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial assets
at fair value through profit and
loss. They are held at fair value,
with any resultant gain or loss
recognised in calculating the
Clinical Commissioning Group’s
surplus or deficit for the year.
The net gain or loss incorporates
any interest earned on the
financial asset.

1.19.2 Held to Maturity Assets
Held to maturity investments are
non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable
payments and fixed maturity,
and there is a positive intention
and ability to hold to maturity.
After initial recognition, they
are held at amortised cost using
the effective interest method,
less any impairment. Interest is
recognised using the effective
interest method.

1.19.3 Available For Sale
Financial Assets
Available for sale financial assets
are non-derivative financial
assets that are designated as
available for sale or that do not
fall within any of the other three
financial asset classifications.
They are measured at fair value
with changes in value taken to
the revaluation reserve, with the
exception of impairment losses.
Accumulated gains or losses are
recycled to surplus/deficit on derecognition.
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1.19.4 Loans & Receivables
Loans and receivables are
non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable
payments which are not quoted
in an active market. After initial
recognition, they are measured
at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less
any impairment. Interest is
recognised using the effective
interest method.
Fair value is determined by
reference to quoted market
prices where possible, otherwise
by valuation techniques.
The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the
financial asset, to the initial fair
value of the financial asset.
At the end of the reporting
period, the Clinical
Commissioning Group assesses
whether any financial assets,
other than those held at ‘fair
value through profit and loss’
are impaired. Financial assets are
impaired and impairment losses
recognised if there is objective
evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events
which occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset and
which has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of
the asset.
For financial assets carried at
amortised cost, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured
as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the revised
future cash flows discounted
at the asset’s original effective
interest rate. The loss is
recognised in expenditure and
the carrying amount of the asset
is reduced through a provision
for impairment of receivables.
If, in a subsequent period, the
amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment

was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is
reversed through expenditure
to the extent that the carrying
amount of the receivable at
the date of the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have
been had the impairment not
been recognised.

1.20 Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are
recognised on the statement
of financial position when
the Clinical Commissioning
Group p becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the
financial instrument or, in the
case of trade payables, when
the goods or services have been
received. Financial liabilities are
de-recognised when the liability
has been discharged, that is,
the liability has been paid or has
expired.
Loans from the Department
of Health are recognised at
historical cost. Otherwise,
financial liabilities are initially
recognised at fair value.

1.20.1 Financial Guarantee
Contract Liabilities
Financial guarantee contract
liabilities are subsequently
measured at the higher of:
• The premium received (or
imputed) for entering into
the guarantee less cumulative
amortisation
• The amount of the obligation
under the contract, as
determined in accordance
with IAS 37: Provisions,
Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets.

1.20.2 Financial Liabilities
at Fair Value Through
Profit and Loss
Embedded derivatives that have
different risks and characteristics
to their host contracts, and
contracts with embedded
derivatives whose separate
value cannot be ascertained,
are treated as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit
and loss. They are held at fair
value, with any resultant gain
or loss recognised in the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s surplus/
deficit. The net gain or loss
incorporates any interest payable
on the financial liability.

1.20.3 Other
Financial Liabilities
After initial recognition, all
other financial liabilities are
measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest
method, except for loans from
Department of Health, which
are carried at historic cost. The
effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through
the life of the asset, to the net
carrying amount of the financial
liability. Interest is recognised
using the effective interest
method.

1.21 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the
Clinical Commissioning Group
are outside the scope of VAT
and, in general, output tax
does not apply and input tax on
purchases is not recoverable.
Irrecoverable VAT is charged
to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the
capitalised purchase cost of
fixed assets. Where output
tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are
stated net of VAT.
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1.22 Losses &
Special Payments
Losses and special payments
are items that Parliament would
not have contemplated when
it agreed funds for the health
service or passed legislation. By
their nature they are items that
ideally should not arise. They
are therefore subject to special
control procedures compared
with the generality of payments.
They are divided into different
categories, which govern the
way that individual cases are
handled.
Losses and special payments
are charged to the relevant
functional headings in
expenditure on an accruals basis,
including losses which would
have been made good through
insurance cover had the Clinical
Commissioning Group not
been bearing its own risks (with
insurance premiums then being
included as normal revenue
expenditure).

1.23 Accounting
Standards That Have
Been Issued But Have
Not Yet Been Adopted
The Government Financial
Reporting Manual does not
require the following Standards
and Interpretations to be applied
in 2014-15, all of which are
subject to consultation:
• IFRS 9: Financial Instruments
• IFRS 13: Fair Value
Measurement
• IFRS 14: Regulatory
Deferral Accounts
• IFRS 15: Revenue for
Contract with Customers.
The application of the Standards
as revised would not have a
material impact on the accounts
for 2014-15, were they applied
in that year.

2 Other Operating Revenue
		
2014-15		 2014-15		 2014-15		 2013-14
		
Total		 Admin		
Programme		
Total
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
Charitable and other contributions
to revenue expenditure: non-NHS		

43		

-		

43		

-

Non-patient care services to other bodies		

260		

18		

242		

200

Other revenue
Total other operating revenue

41

41

0

17

344

59

285

217

Admin revenue is revenue received that is not directly attributable to the provision of healthcare or
healthcare services.
Revenue in this note does not include cash received from NHS England, which is drawn down directly into
the bank account of the CCG and credited to the General Fund.

3 Revenue
		
2014-15		 2014-15		 2014-15		 2013-14
		
Total		 Admin		
Programme		
Total
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
From rendering of services

344

59

285

217

Total

344

59

285

217

Revenue is totally from the supply of services.
The Clinical Commissioning Group receives no revenue from the sale of goods.
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2 014 - 15 Tot al

Adm i n

P rogr a m m e

225		

Employer Contributions
to NHS Pension scheme		

2,803

167		

Social security costs		

Gross employee
benefits expenditure

2,411		

Salaries and wages		

Employee Benefits

2,621

225		

167		

2,229		

182

-		

-		

182		

2,236

225		

167		

1,844		

2,234

225		

167		

1,842		

2

-		

-		

2		

567

-		

-		

567		

387

-		

-		

387		

180

-

-

180

			
Permanent						
Permanent						
Permanent
		
Total		
Employees		 Other		
Total		
Employees		 Other		
Total		
Employees		 Other
		£000		£000		£000		£000		£000		£000		£000		£000		£000

4.1.1 Employee benefits

4 Employee benefits and staff numbers

4.2 Average number of people employed
				 2014-15				 2013-14
				Permanently
		
Total		 employed		 Other		
Total
		 Number		 Number		 Number		 Number
Total		

47		

40		

7		

43

-		

-		

-		

-

Of the above:
Number of whole time equivalent people
engaged on capital projects		

4.3 Staff sickness absence and ill health retirements
			
2014-15		
				

2013-14		
Number		 Number		

Total Days Lost				

118		

111

Total Staff Years			

36

43

Average working Days Lost			

3.28

2.58

			
2014-15		

				

2013-14
Number		 Number

Number of persons retired early on ill health grounds			
				
Total additional Pensions liabilities accrued in the year			

4.4 Pension costs
Past and present employees are
covered by the provisions of the
NHS Pension Scheme. Details
of the benefits payable under
these provisions can be found
on the NHS Pensions website at
www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/Pensions.
The Scheme is an unfunded,
defined benefit scheme that
covers NHS employers, GP
practices and other bodies,
allowed under the direction
of the Secretary of State, in
England and Wales. The Scheme
is not designed to be run in a

way that would enable NHS
bodies to identify their share
of the underlying scheme
assets and liabilities. Therefore,
the Scheme is accounted
for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme: the cost
to the clinical commissioning
group of participating in the
Scheme is taken as equal to
the contributions payable to
the Scheme for the accounting
period.
In order that the defined benefit
obligations recognised in the
financial statements do not
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0		
£000		
0		

0
£000
0

differ materially from those
that would be determined at
the reporting dare by a formal
actuarial valuation, the FReM
requires that “the period
between formal valuations shall
be four years, with approximate
assessments in the intervening
years”. An outline of these
follows:

4.4.1 Accounting valuation
A valuation of the scheme
liability is carried out annually
by the scheme actuary as at the
end of the reporting period. This

utilises an actuarial assessment
for the previous accounting
period in conjunction with
updated membership and
financial data for the current
reporting period, and are
accepted as providing suitably
robust figures for financial
reporting purposes. The
valuation of the scheme liability
as at 31 March 2015, is based
on valuation data at 31 March
2014, updated to 31 March
2015 with summary global
member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial
assessment, the methodology
prescribed in IAS 19, relevant
FReM interpretations, and the
discount rate prescribed by HM
Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the
liabilities of the Scheme is
contained in the scheme actuary
report, which forms part of the
annual NHS Pension Scheme
(England and Wales) Pensions
Accounts, published annually.
These accounts can be viewed
on the NHS Pensions website.
Copies can also be obtained
from The Stationery Office.

4.4.2 Full actuarial (funding)
valuation
The purpose of this valuation
is to assess the level of liability
in respect of the benefits due
under the Scheme (taking into
account its recent demographic
experience), and to recommend
the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial
valuation undertaken for the
NHS Pension Scheme was
completed for the year ended
31 March 2012.

The Scheme Regulations allow
contribution rates to be set
by the Secretary of State for
Health with the consent of HM
Treasury, and consideration
of the advice of the Scheme
Actuary and appropriate
employee and employer
representatives as deemed
appropriate.

4.4.3 Scheme Provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme
provides defined benefits, which
are summarised below. This list
is an illustrative guide only, and
is not intended to detail all the
benefits provided by the Scheme
or the specific conditions that
must be met before these
benefits can be obtained:
• The Scheme is a “final salary”
scheme. Annual pensions are
normally based on 1/80th
for the 1995 section and
of the best of the last three
years pensionable pay for
each year of service, and
1/60th for the 2008 section
of reckonable pay per year of
membership. Members who
are practitioners as defined
by the Scheme Regulations
have their annual pensions
based upon total pensionable
earnings over the relevant
pensionable service
• With effect from 1 April
2008 members can choose
to give up some of their
annual pension for an
additional tax free lump
sum, up to a maximum
amount permitted under HM
Revenue & Customs rules. This
new provision is known as
“pension commutation”
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• Annual increases are applied
to pension payments at rates
defined by the Pensions
(Increase) Act 1971, and are
based on changes in retail
prices in the twelve months
ending 30 September in the
previous calendar year. From
2011-12 the Consumer Price
Index (CPI) has been used
and replaced the Retail Prices
Index (RPI)
• Early payment of a pension,
with enhancement, is
available to members of the
Scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their
duties effectively through
illness or infirmity. A death
gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in
service, and five times their
annual pension for death after
retirement is payable
• For early retirements other
than those due to ill health
the additional pension
liabilities are not funded
by the scheme. The full
amount of the liability for the
additional costs is charged to
the employer
• Members can purchase
additional service in the
Scheme and contribute to
money purchase AVC’s run
by the Scheme’s approved
providers or by other Free
Standing Additional Voluntary
Contributions (FSAVC)
providers.

5 Operating expenses
		
2014-15		 2014-15		 2014-15		 2013-14
		
Total		 Admin		
Programme		
Total
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
Gross employee benefits
Employee benefits excluding governing body members 2,523		

1,956		

567		

280

280

-

190

2,803

2,236

567

2,164

Services from other CCGs and NHS England		

1,326		

1,180		

146		

1,441

Services from foundation trusts		

51,263		

2		

51,261		

47,983

Services from other NHS trusts		

103,527		

35		

103,492		

102,830

Services from other NHS bodies		

-		

-		

-		
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Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies		

35,590		

-		

35,590		

32,833

Chair and Non Executive Members		

183		

183		

-		

296

Supplies and services – clinical		

-		

-		

-		

249

Supplies and services – general		

253		

49		

204		

30

Consultancy services		

835		

Executive governing body members
Total gross employee benefits

1,974

Other costs

128		

707		

1,780

Establishment		845		261		584		554
Transport		

11		

9		

2		

9

Premises		673		214		459		275
Audit fees		

72		

72		

-		
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Prescribing costs		

30,618		

-		

30,618		

30,701

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS		

906		

-		

906		

730

Other professional fees excl. audit		

131		

131 -

0		

256

Grants to other public bodies		

53		

1		

52		

-

Research and development (excluding staff costs)		

50		

-		

50		

-

Education and training		55		40		15		20
Provisions		

713		

-		

713		

-

CHC Risk Pool contributions		

323		

-		

323		

-

Other expenditure

2

2

-

-

Total other costs

227,429

2,307

225,122

220,119

Total operating expenses

230,232

4,543

225,689

222,283

Admin expenditure is expenditure incurred that is not a direct payment for the provision of healthcare or
healthcare services.
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code
Measure of compliance		2014-15		2014-15		2013-14		2013-14
		 Number		
£000		 Number		
£000
Non-NHS Payables
Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year		

7,686		

48,206		

6,036		

32,876

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target		

7,413		

46,664		

5,297		

27,855

87.8%		

84.7%

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices
paid within target		
96.4%		 96.8%		
NHS Payables
Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year		

2,251		

159,263		

2,020		

154,096

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target		

2,151		

159,008		

1,334		

141,636

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices
paid within target		95.6%		99.8%		66.0%		91.9%
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the CCG to aim to pay all valid invoices by the due date or
within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice, whichever is later.

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
					
2014-15		 2013-14
				
		
£000		
£000
Amounts included in finance costs from claims made under this legislation			

-		

1

Compensation paid to cover debt recovery costs under this legislation		

-

0

Total					 -

1

7 Income Generation Activities
The Clinical Commissioning Group does not undertake any income generation activities.			

8. Finance costs
					
2014-15		 2013-14
				
		
£000		
£000
Interest on late payment of commercial debt					

-

1

Total finance costs					

-

1

9. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption
No Gain or loss arose on transfer of assets by absorption.
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10 Operating Leases
10.1 As lessee

10.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense
								 2014-15		 2013-14
Land		Buildings		 Other		
Total		
Total
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
Payments recognised as an expense
Minimum lease payments
Total

-

629
629

(6)
(6)

622
622

271
271

10.1.2 Future minimum lease payments
								 2014-15		 2013-14
Land		Buildings		 Other		
Total		
Total
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
Payable:
No later than one year		
-		
629		
(6)		
622		
271
Between one and five years		-		-		-		-		After five years
Total
629
(6)
622
271
The increased cost of leases arises because CCGs are liable for any shortfall between the rent paid by
NHS Trusts and the costs of the property incurred by NHS Property Services (who manage NHS properties).

11 Property, plant and equipment
			 Information		
2014-15			 technology		
			
£000		
Cost or valuation at 1 April 2014			

-		

Total
£000
-

Additions purchased		
Cost/Valuation At 31 March 2015		

118
118

118
118

Depreciation 1 April 2014		

-

-

		
Depreciation at 31 March 2015		
-

		
Net Book Value at 31 March 2015		
118
118

Purchased		
118
118
Total at 31 March 2015		
118
118
Asset financing:

Owned			
118		
118
		
Total at 31 March 2015		
118
118
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12 Trade and other receivables
Current		Non-current		
Current		Non-current
		
2014-15		 2014-15
2013-14		2013-14
		
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
NHS receivables: Revenue		
NHS prepayments and accrued income		
Non-NHS receivables: Revenue		
Non-NHS prepayments and accrued income
VAT		
Other receivables
Total Trade & other receivables
Total current and non current

1,916		
-		
418		
-		
175		
-		
8		
-		
1		
-		
4
2,522
			
2,522			

23		
74		
150		
79		
10		
5
341
		
341

-

The great majority of trade is with NHS England. As NHS England is funded by Government to provide
funding to Clinical Commissioning Groups to commission services, no credit scoring of them is considered
necessary. There are no other receivables that are either past due or impaired.

13 Cash and cash equivalents
						
						
Balance at 1 April 2014						
Net change in year					
Balance at 31 March 2015					

2014-15		
£000		

2013-14
£000

459		
(315)
144

459
459

Made up of:
Cash with the Government Banking Service						
144		
Cash with Commercial banks					
Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial position			
144		
					
Balance at 31 March 2015					
144

150
309
459
459

14 Trade and other payables
Current		Non-current		
Current		Non-current
		
2014-15		 2014-15
2013-14		2013-14
£000		
£000		
£000		
£000
NHS payables: revenue		
NHS accruals and deferred income		
Non-NHS payables: revenue		
Non-NHS accruals and deferred income		
Social security costs		
Tax		
Other payables
Total Trade & Other Payables		
Total current and non-current

1,544		
-		
1,380		
-		
1,769		
-		
7,793		
-		
27		
-		
29		
-		
59
12,601
-		
			
12,601			

240		
1,607		
1,943		
6,890		
20		
23		
1,204
11,927		
11,927

Other payables include £38k (2013/14 - £32k) for outstanding pension contributions.
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15 Provisions

2014-15		 2013-14
		
£000		
£000
Continuing care
Total

713
713		

-

Total current and non-current
713
			
				
		Continuing
		
Care		
Total
		£000s		£000s
Balance at 1 April 2014		
-		
Arising during the year
713
Balance at 31 March 2015
713		
				
Expected timing of cash flows:
Within one year
713
Balance at 31 March 2015
713

713
713

713
713

Continuing care provision relates to claims made by third parties for Continuing Healthcare Funding
for unassessed periods of care. The provision is an estimate of the amount that is payable in respect of
periods of care since 1 April 2013 as NHS England has accounted for provisions related to periods prior to
that date (see note 16.2).

16 Commitments
				
16.1 Capital
commitments

16.2 Other financial
commitments

The Clinical Commissioning
Group had no capital
commitments at 31 March 2015

The Clinical Commissioning
Group has not entered into
other non-cancellable contracts.
Under the Accounts Direction
issued by NHS England on 12
February 2014, NHS England
is responsible for accounting
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for liabilities relating to NHS
Continuing Healthcare claims
relating to periods of care
before establishment of the
Clinical Commissioning Group.
However, the legal liability
remains with the CCG. The total
value of legacy NHS Continuing
Healthcare provisions accounted
for by NHS England on behalf of
this CCG at 31 March 2015 is
£1,893k (2013/14 £1,761k).

17 Financial instruments
				
17.1 Financial risk
management
Financial reporting standard
IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the
role that financial instruments
have had during the period in
creating or changing the risks
a body faces in undertaking its
activities.
Because the Clinical
Commissioning Group is
financed through parliamentary
funding, it is not exposed to the
degree of financial risk faced by
business entities. Also, financial
instruments play a much more
limited role in creating or
changing risk than would be
typical of listed companies, to
which the financial reporting
standards mainly apply. The
Clinical Commissioning Group
has limited powers to borrow
or invest surplus funds and
financial assets and liabilities
are generated by day-to-day
operational activities rather
than being held to change
the risks facing the Clinical
Commissioning Group in
undertaking its activities.
Treasury management
operations are carried out
by the finance department,
within parameters defined
formally within the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s
standing financial instructions
and policies agreed by the
Governing Body. Treasury
activity is subject to review by
the Clinical Commissioning
Group’s internal auditors.

17.1.1 Currency risk

17.1.4 Liquidity risk

The Clinical Commissioning
Group is principally a domestic
organisation with the great
majority of transactions, assets
and liabilities being in the UK
and sterling based. The Clinical
Commissioning Group has no
overseas operations. The Clinical
Commissioning Group therefore
has low exposure to currency
rate fluctuations.

The Clinical Commissioning
Group is required to operate
within revenue and capital
resource limits agreed with
NHS England, which are
financed from resources voted
annually by Parliament. The
Clinical Commissioning Group
draws down cash to cover
expenditure, from NHS England,
as the need arises. The Clinical
Commissioning Group is not,
therefore, exposed to significant
liquidity risks.

17.1.2 Interest rate risk
The Clinical Commissioning
Group borrows from
government for capital
expenditure, subject to
affordability as confirmed by
NHS England. The borrowings
are for 1 to 25 years, in line
with the life of the associated
assets, and interest is charged
at the National Loans Fund rate,
fixed for the life of the loan. The
Clinical Commissioning Group
therefore has low exposure to
interest rate
fluctuations.

17.1.3 Credit risk
As the majority of the Clinical
Commissioning Group’s revenue
comes parliamentary funding,
the Clinical Commissioning
Group has low exposure to
credit risk. The maximum
exposures as at the end of the
financial year are in receivables
from customers, as disclosed in
the trade and other receivables
note.
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17 Financial instruments cont’d				
17.2 Financial assets
		At ‘fair value						
		 through profit		
Loans and		
Available
		
and loss’		 Receivables		
for Sale		
Total
		2014-15		2014-15		2014-15		2014-15
		£000		£000		£000		£000
Receivables:
·
NHS		
·
Non-NHS		
Cash at bank and in hand		
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

-		
-		
-		
-

1,917		
175		
144		
4
2,240

-		
-		
-		
-

1,917
175
144
4
2,240

		 At ‘fair value						
		 through profit		
Loans and		
Available
		
and loss’		 Receivables		
for Sale		
Total
		2013-14		2013-14		2013-14		2013-14
		£000		£000		£000		£000
Receivables:
·
NHS		
·
Non-NHS		
Cash at bank and in hand		
Other financial assets
Total at 31 March 2015

-		
-		
-		
-

23		
150		
459		
5
637

-		
-		
-		
-

23
150
459
5
637

17.3 Financial liabilities
				At ‘fair value				
				
through profit		
				
and loss’		
Other		
				
2014-15		
2014-15		
				
£000		
£000		
Payables:
·
NHS				
·
Non-NHS			
Total at 31 March 2015			

-		
-

2,924		
9,621
12,545

		
		 At ‘fair value				
				 through profit		
				
and loss’		
Other		
				
2013-14		
2013-14		
				
£000		
£000		
Payables:
·
NHS				
·
Non-NHS			
Total at 31 March 2015			

-		
-
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1,847		
8,833
10,680

Total
2014-15
£000
2,924
9,621
12,545

Total
2013-14
£000
1,847
8,833
10,680

18 Operating segments								
The Clinical Commissioning Group considers it has only one segment: commissioning of healthcare services.

19 Pooled budgets								
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget with Cheshire East Council.
The pool is hosted by Cheshire East Council.
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s and consolidated group’s shares of the income and expenditure
handled by the pooled budget in the financial year were:
						 2014-15		 2013-14
						
£000		
£000
Income						
Expenditure						

0		
(351)		

0
(3,951)

20 Intra-government and other balances					
		
Current		
Non-current		 Current		
Non-current
		
Receivables		
Receivables		 Payables		 Payables
		
2014-15		 2014-15		 2014-15		 2014-15
		£000		£000		£000		£000
Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies		
·
Local Authorities		
Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:
·

-		
39		
2,334
2,334		

Bodies external to Government		

Total balances at 31 March 2015

149		
2,522

-		
-		

56		
484		

-

-		

2,923
2,923		

-

-		

9,138		

-

-

12,601

-

		
Current		
Non-current		 Current		
Non-current
		Receivables		Receivables		 Payables		 Payables
		
2013-14		 2013-14		 2014-15		 2014-15
		£000		£000		£000		£000
Balances with:
·
Other Central Government bodies		
·
Local Authorities		

-		
150		

-		
-		

75		
1,711		

-

Balances with NHS bodies:
·
NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts
Total of balances with NHS bodies:

97
97		

-		

1,847
1,847		

-

·

94		

-		

8,294		

-

Bodies external to Government		

Total balances at 31 March 2015

341
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-

11,927

-

21 Related party transactions							
The CCG makes payments to practices for services provided under clinical schemes agreed by the
Governing Body. The following represents the gross costs of those services paid to practices and other
organisations where a member of the Governing Body or a close family member exerts significant control
over that practice or organisation:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
2014-15		Party		Party		Party		Party
		£000		£000		£000		£000
McIlvride Medical Practice - Dr Paul Bowen Partner		
High Street Surgery - Dr Mike Clark , Partner		
Handforth Health Centre - Dr James Milligan - Partner
Toft Road Surgery - Dr Jennifer Lawn, Partner		
Cumberland House - Spouse of Dr Bowen, Partner		
Vernova Healthcare - Joint Venture of Member Practices
CLS Healthcare - Chaired by Gill Boston		

94		
79 		
49		
93		
171		
476		
284		

- 		
-		
- 		
- 		
-		
-		

11
11
- 		
16		
22		
-		
12		

-

Payments to Handforth Health Centre are for the period when Dr Milligan was a member of the
Governing Body and hence a related party. Gill Boston has no beneficial interest in CLS Healthcare,
a not for profit organisation, and consequently does not benefit from payments made to that organisation
which were in respect of clinical services.
For the year ended 31 March 2014, related party transactions were as follows:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
		£000		£000		£000		£000
McIlvride Practice - Dr Paul Bowen - Partner		
High St Surgery - Dr Mike Clark - Partner		
Handforth Health Centre - Dr James Milligan - Partner
Toft Road Surgery - Dr Jennifer Lawn - Partner		
Cumberland House - Spouse of Dr Paul Bowen - Partner
Vernova Healthcare - Joint venture of member practices
CLS Healthcare - Chaired by Gill Boston		

71		
68		
166		
106		
170		
415		
168		

-		
-		
-		
-		
-		
-		
-		

13		
17		
33		
20		
10		
-		
-		

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning
Group has had a significant number of material transactions with entities for which the Department is
regarded as the parent Department. For example:
•  NHS England

•  NHS Litigation Authority

•  NHS Foundation Trusts

•  NHS Business Services Authority.

•  NHS Trusts

84

-

In addition, the CCG works closely with other NHS Organisations such as NHS Cheshire and Merseyside
Clinical Commissioning Support Unit which provides many of our services and Vale Royal CCH which hosts
or medicines management team. NHS Organisations where the CCG has had significant transactions above
£3m or where we worked closely with those organisations were:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
2014-15		Party		Party		Party		Party
		£000		£000		£000		£000
NHS England		
East Cheshire NHS Trust		
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
Universtity Hospitals of South Manchester
NHS Foundation Trust		
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust		
Central Manchester Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust		
North West Ambulance NHS Trust		
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust		
NHS Cheshire and Merseyside
Clinical Commissioning Support		
NHS Vale Royal CCG		

-		 230,485		
93,975		
-		
14,511		
-		

-		
1,836		
2		

414
803

12,141		
10,275		
5,893		
6,091		
4,078		

-		
-		
-		
-		
-		

274		
42		
81		
9		

79
183
14

1,707		
1,078		

-		
-		

13		
62

6

For the year ended 31 March 2014, NHS Organisations where the CCG has had significant transactions
above £3m or where we worked closely with those organisations were:
		
		 Receipts		Amounts		Amounts
		Payments		
from		 owed to		due from
		
to Related		 Related		 Related		 Related
		Party		Party		Party		Party
		£000		£000		£000		£000
NHS England		
East Cheshire NHS Trust		
Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust
University Hospital of South Manchester
Foundation Trust		
Stockport NHS Foundation Trust		
Central Manchester Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust		
North West Ambulance NHS Trust		
Mid Cheshire NHS Foundation Trust		
NHS Cheshire and Merseyside
Clinical Commissioning Support Unit		
NHS Vale Royal CCG		

-		 210,940		
94,760		
-		
13,027		
-		

-		
954		
3 		

27

10,776		
9,794		
6,221		
5,821		
4,097		

146		
-		
35		
40		
58		

-

30		
32		

-

1,590		
730		

-		
-		
-		
-		
-		
-		
-		

The Clinical Commissioning Group has also had a number of material transactions with other government
departments and other central and local government bodies. Most of these transactions have been with
Cheshire East Local Authority in respect of joint enterprises as set out in notes 19.
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22 Events after the end of the reporting period				
There are no post balance sheet events which will have a material effect on the financial statements of the
Clinical Commissioning Group or consolidated group.

23 Losses and special payments							
The Clinical Commissioning Group made ex-gratia payment for £1k.

24 Financial performance targets							
Clinical Commissioning Groups have a number of financial duties under the NHS Act 2006 (as amended).
The Clinical Commissioning Group’s performance against those duties was as follows:
		
2014-15		 2014-15		 2013-14		 2013-14
		
Target		Performance		
Target		Performance
		£000		£000		
£000		
£000
Expenditure not to exceed income		
Capital resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions		
Revenue resource use does not exceed
the amount specified in Directions		
Capital resource use on specified matter(s)
does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions		
Revenue resource use on specified matter(s)
does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions		
Revenue administration resource use
does not exceed the amount
specified in Directions		

230,078		

229,888		

222,271		

222,067

118		

118		

-		

-

230,078		

229,888		

222,271		

222,067

-		

-		

-		

-

-		

-		

-		

-

5,647		

4,484		

4,930		

4,498

Based on the above, the Clinical Commissioning Group can confirm that it fulfilled its financial duties.
Note: For the purposes of 223H(1); expenditure is defined as the aggregate of gross expenditure on revenue
and capital in the financial year; and, income is defined as the aggregate of the notified maximum revenue
resource, notified capital resource and all other amounts accounted as received in the financial year
(whether under provisions of the Act or from other sources, and included here on a gross basis).
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